

# Annual Review of Nutrition Dietary Selenium Across Species

# Xin Gen Lei,<sup>1</sup> Gerald F. Combs Jr.,<sup>2</sup> Roger A. Sunde,<sup>3</sup> Joel S. Caton,<sup>4</sup> John D. Arthington,<sup>5</sup> and Marko Z. Vatamaniuk<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Animal Science, Cornell University, Ithaca, New York, USA; email: XL20@cornell.edu

<sup>2</sup>Jean Mayer USDA Human Nutrition Research Center on Aging, Tufts University, Boston, Massachusetts, USA

<sup>3</sup>Department of Nutritional Sciences, University of Wisconsin–Madison, Madison, Wisconsin, USA

<sup>4</sup>Department of Animal Science, North Dakota State University, Fargo, North Dakota, USA <sup>5</sup>Department of Animal Sciences, University of Florida, Gainesville, Florida, USA

Annu. Rev. Nutr. 2022. 42:337–75

First published as a Review in Advance on June 9, 2022

The Annual Review of Nutrition is online at nutr.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-062320-121834

Copyright © 2022 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved



- www.annualreviews.org
- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media

#### Keywords

animal, human, nutrition, selenium, selenoprotein, toxicity

#### Abstract

This review traces the discoveries that led to the recognition of selenium (Se) as an essential nutrient and discusses Se-responsive diseases in animals and humans in the context of current understanding of the molecular mechanisms of their pathogeneses. The article includes a comprehensive analysis of dietary sources, nutritional utilization, metabolic functions, and dietary requirements of Se across various species. We also compare the function and regulation of selenogenomes and selenoproteomes among rodents, food animals, and humans. The review addresses the metabolic impacts of high dietary Se intakes in different species and recent revelations of Se metabolites, means of increasing Se status, and the recycling of Se in food systems and ecosystems. Finally, research needs are identified for supporting basic science and practical applications of dietary Se in food, nutrition, and health across species.

#### Contents

1.	INTRODUCTION	338
2.	SOURCES OF DIETARY Se	339
	2.1. The Soil, Plant, and Animal Interface	339
	2.2. Determinants of Se Uptake by Plants and Animals	339
	2.3. Se in Human Diets	340
3.	UTILIZATION OF DIETARY Se	340
	3.1. Digestion and Absorption	340
	3.2. Intermediate Metabolism	341
	3.3. Excretion and Balance	343
4.	FUNCTIONS AND REGULATIONS OF SELENOPROTEOMES	
	AND SELENOGENOMES	343
	4.1. Biochemical and Metabolic Properties of Selenoproteins	343
	4.2. Regulation of Selenoproteome and Selenogenome	350
5.	HEALTH EFFECTS OF Se AND NEW PATHOLOGICAL	
	MECHANISMS	351
	5.1. Molecular Mechanisms of Se Deficiency Disorders in Various Species	351
	5.2. Se Deficiency–Associated Diseases in Humans	352
	5.3. Role of Se in Anticarcinogenesis	353
6.	BIOMARKERS OF BODY Se STATUS AND DIETARY Se	
	REQUIREMENTS	354
	6.1. Biomarkers of Se Status	354
	6.2. Recommended Dietary Se Intakes for Animals	354
	6.3. Dietary Reference Intakes for Humans	359
7.	ADVERSE EFFECTS AND TOXICITIES OF Se	359
	7.1. Metabolic Effects of High Se Intakes on Animals	359
	7.2. Diabetogenic Risk of High Se Status in Humans	361
	7.3. Acute and Chronic Toxicities	361
	7.4. Maximal Tolerable Se Levels	362
8.	INCREASING Se STATUS	362
	8.1. Providing Se to Animals	362
	8.2. Increasing Se in Food Systems for Humans	363
	8.3. Biofortification of Animal-Sourced Foods with Se	364
9.	CONCLUDING REMARKS	364

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Within only a few decades, selenium (Se) emerged from being viewed as a toxic element in soils and consequently forages of grazing animals to an essential nutrient for many species and humans, with possible metabolic roles beyond its traditionally recognized nutritional necessity. Schwarz and colleagues were among the very first to suggest a nutritional role of Se by revealing its effectiveness in preventing liver necrosis in rats (145) and exudative diathesis in chicks (144). Subsequent work showed that combined deficiencies of Se and vitamin E produced lesions in turkey poults; hepatic, cardiac, and smooth muscle pathologies in pigs; skeletal myopathies (white muscle disease) in lambs and calves; placental retention in cows; and reproductive failure in turkey toms and bulls

(30). Because these lesions were prevented by supplementing those diets with either vitamin E or Se, a phenomenon referred to as nutritional sparing, and because vitamin E was known to have an antioxidant function, Se, too, became regarded as an antioxidant—the dominant paradigm for almost 20 years.

In 1973, a more accurate mechanistic understanding of the nutritional role of Se became available with the discovery of Se as an essential constituent of cellular glutathione peroxidase (GPX1) (139). This finding revealed Se as having an essential role in the multicomponent cellular antioxidant defense system and provided the first framework for our current knowledge of the function of Se in selenoproteins.

#### 2. SOURCES OF DIETARY Se

#### 2.1. The Soil, Plant, and Animal Interface

The Se content of foods and feeds ultimately depends on the Se content of soils and the capacity of plants to obtain the element from soils. Although Se is not essential for higher plants, it may promote plant growth in some cases (131, 180). Plants readily take up Se from the soil and incorporate it into organic compounds using Se assimilation enzymes (131). Due to similar chemical properties between Se and sulfur (S), Se assimilation into plants typically occurs through the substitution of S in the formation of S-containing amino acids, primarily selenomethionine (SeMet), selenocysteine (Sec), and Se-methylselenocysteine (205). The incorporation of Se into plants is considered luxury accumulation and is reflective of the resident concentration of Se in the soil. Therefore, an accurate soil nutrient mapping can predict the Se content of forages grown in the area.

The Se content of most soils is 0.01 to 2 mg/kg. Soils containing <0.5 mg/kg are classified as Se deficient. Se-deficient soils are found throughout China in a geographic belt that extends from the southwest to the northeast, accounting for 35% of available agricultural soils in the country (214). High Se levels in soils also occur worldwide, including >4 mg/kg in northwest India (36), approximately 30 mg/kg in northern California (188), and more than 100 mg/kg in Enshi, Hubei Province, China (231). In the northern high plains of the United States, soil Se concentrations tend to be high (14); thus, forages grown in these areas commonly have adequate levels of Se. This is reflected in the tissue Se concentrations of cattle raised from these areas (65).

Most plants can respond metabolically to Se treatments (59, 152). Florets of broccoli (*Brassica oleracea*) fertilized with selenate showed increased contents of free amino acids, sulforaphane, and glucosinolates (84). Se-containing sprays are used on forage crops to increase the Se intakes of grazing animals. Foliar application of sodium selenate providing 120–480 g of Se per hectare substantially increased the Se content of Bermuda grass (*Cynodon dactylon*) (186). Alfalfa (*Medicago sativa*) hay produced on fields receiving such spray applications showed increases in Se content (57). Most of the Se in Se-treated forages and feedstuffs is in the form of SeMet, with lesser amounts of Sec and Se-methylselenocysteine (64, 205). These forms of plant Se are highly available to ruminants and are more effective than inorganic Se in increasing the Se status of cattle (149).

#### 2.2. Determinants of Se Uptake by Plants and Animals

The two forms of Se that are most available to plants are soluble in aqueous environments: selenite (Se<sup>+4</sup>) and selenate (Se<sup>+6</sup>). Selenate dominates in alkaline, well-oxidized soils; selenite dominates in acidic and neutral soil (43). Accordingly, Se is better taken from sandy soils than from loamy ones, likely due to adsorption to clay, humic acid, and iron oxides in the latter. Plant roots take up both forms of Se (selenate by sulfate transporters, selenite passively). Selenate is translocated to shoot tissues, thus composing the dominant Se species in xylem sap, while selenite is metabolized to SeMet and tends to remain in the root (87). Absorbed Se is converted into organic compounds

through the substitution of S in the formation of Se-containing amino acids, that is, SeMet and, to a lesser extent, Se-methylselenocysteine (131, 205). Foods such as cruciferous vegetables, which are naturally rich in S, can accumulate nutritionally significant amounts of Se (1-10 mg/kg) if grown on high-Se soils or if fertilized with selenite or selenate salts. Wheat grain may contain Se levels of >2-5 mg/kg if produced in parts of the northern plains of North America but as little as 0.1 mg/kg in Kansas or New Zealand and only 0.005 mg/kg in Shaanxi Province, China. Plants grown in proximity to coal-powered electrical generators can receive Se in the fallout of Secontaining fly ash. Sulfur in acid precipitation and groundwater can antagonize the root uptake of Se (13). Reduced soil pH decreases the ability for plants to accumulate Se. High S in plant tissues can impair the utilization of Se by animals consuming them (73). The Se intakes of grazing livestock reflect the Se content of their forages, while those of livestock fed in confinement reflect the Se content of the ingredients composing their mixed feeds. The use of Se-containing feed supplements, which typically contain sodium selenite, has reduced geographic variation in the Se content of animal products. In addition, ruminants (foregut fermenters) and species that practice coprophagy (some hindgut fermenters) are exposed to and/or ingest Se-containing compounds produced by their enteric bacteria (203).

#### 2.3. Se in Human Diets

Human diets contain Se predominantly in the form of SeMet. Because animals metabolize ingested Se into proteins (55–65% as SeMet, with 5–15% as Sec) (170), the Se contents of animal products tend to be correlated with their protein contents; for example, muscle meats contain 0.3 to 0.5 mg/kg (fresh weight), and organ meats usually contain amounts that are 4 to 15 times higher. Most plant-based foods, with notable exceptions (such as the *Brassicas* species), have Se concentrations positively related to protein contents. Therefore, most of the Se in human diets tends to be provided by the major sources of dietary protein, and the bioavailability of Se in foods is largely dependent on the availability of their constituent Se-containing proteins. Individuals with chronically low protein intakes are at risk for Se deficiency. Interestingly, in American diets, fewer than two dozen foods provide most of the total dietary Se, with five foods contributing half: beef, bread, pork, chicken, and eggs (143). Estimated daily Se intakes ( $\mu$ g/person) in 18 countries varied from 3 in parts of China to 224 in parts of Canada and Venezuela (28) to a level as high as 6,690 in endemic Se intoxication areas in Enshi County, Hubei Province, China (212).

#### **3. UTILIZATION OF DIETARY Se**

#### 3.1. Digestion and Absorption

In general, dietary sources of Se are well digested and absorbed by simple-stomached animals and humans. For Se-containing amino acids, this process involves digestion of their respective proteins and absorption of the digestive products by active transport. For inorganic forms of Se, this process involves direct absorption by simple (selenite) or carrier-mediated (selenate) diffusion (183, 187). Wastney et al. (196) found that the enteric absorption of Se from single doses (200  $\mu$ g) by humans was 98% for SeMet and 84% for selenite. The high Se absorption rate seems to be independent of Se status (15). The commonly used feed supplements of selenite and selenate are well absorbed from the intestine (50–90%).

The bioavailability of dietary Se ranges from 29 to 98% across species (3, 170, 200). In ruminants, bioavailability of Se in forage plants is lower than in concentrate-based diets (30% versus 60%) (122). The fractional absorption of Se by ruminants is less than that of nonruminants, likely due to reduction of dietary Se into insoluble forms in the rumen and/or incorporation of Se into ruminal microbial protein. The reduced form of Se, selenide (Se<sup>-2</sup>), is not absorbed in the rumen;

Lei et al.

however, the rumen microbial population is capable of converting a significant portion to organic forms, which are absorbed intestinally. Thus, little to no absorption of Se occurs in the rumen or abomasum, whereas the greatest absorption occurs in the small intestine and cecum (114).

The Se-containing proteins ingested by ruminants are degraded by ruminal microbes, incorporated into ruminal microbial protein, and mixed with other feed ingredients (3, 106). The mixture flows out of the forestomach complex into the gastric portions (true stomach) and intestines, where it is acted upon by acids and gastric enzymes, and intestinal enzymes, respectively, as in nonruminants. Digestive actions release SeMet and Sec, both of which follow S transporter pathways into the enterocyte. Likewise, basolateral transport of Se-containing amino acids follows the transport pathways into the venous blood and reaches the liver via the hepatic portal vein. Selenite and selenate cross the intestinal barrier by different mechanisms as described above (107).

#### 3.2. Intermediate Metabolism

Upon absorption, Se enters the mesenteric venous drainage and flows to the liver (58). In the liver, various forms of Se are rapidly metabolized to selenide (HSe<sup>-</sup>). This species in biological systems at the -2 oxidation state may be present alone or in association with other species such as glutathione. This central metabolite can be utilized in three major ways by simple-stomached animals: incorporation into selenoproteins, methylation and excretion, and conversion to seleno-sugars (**Figure 1**).



#### Figure 1

Schematic diagram of Se metabolism into selenoproteins. Selenate is reduced to selenite; selenite can react with GSH to form GSSeSG, which is then further reduced to selenide. SeMet is degraded via transamination to methaneselenol and then selenide. Alternatively, SeMet can be incorporated into general body proteins as a methionine analog. SeBetaine is degraded to release methaneselenol. Methaneselenol can be metabolized to volatile dimethyl selenide or urinary trimethyl selenonium ion. Selenide is the precursor used for Sec-tRNA-mediated selenoprotein incorporation from the five underlined tracer selenocompounds, as assessed by SDS-PAGE. Metabolites not detected by SDS-PAGE include the low-MW selenosugars, high-MW selenosugar-decorated proteins, and other unknown metabolites. Abbreviations: GSH, glutathione; GSSeSG, selenodiglutathione; MW, molecular weight; SDS-PAGE, sodium dodecyl sulfate–polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis; Se, selenium; SeBetaine, selenobetaine; Sec, selenocysteine; SeMet, selenomethionine; tRNA, transfer RNA. Figure adapted with permission from Reference 46.

**3.2.1. Incorporation into selenoproteins.** The novel metabolic fate of selenide is its incorporation into selenoproteins as Sec. This selenoamino acid is synthesized via a cotranslational process involving the conversion of tRNA-bound serine to Sec, occurring on a unique tRNA<sup>Sec</sup> with an anticodon specific for UGA (normally a stop codon) and proceeding via a tRNA-bound phosphoserine intermediate RNA (83). Selenoprotein transcripts have in-frame UGA codons at the position of Sec incorporation. These transcripts are distinguished from others with premature or nonsense UGA stop codons by having a stem loop Sec insertion sequence (SECIS) motif in their 3' untranslated regions (UTRs) (11). Incorporation of Sec is facilitated by the SECIS element, which recruits novel factors that bind the tRNA<sup>Sec</sup> such that the latter outcompetes release factors and inserts the Sec into the growing peptide chain (82, 83).

SeMet is incorporated into proteins during translation by a different mechanism. Because it can charge tRNA<sup>Met</sup>, SeMet is incorporated directly, but nonspecifically, in lieu of methionine into proteins (104). Because Sec does not readily compete with cysteine in charging the tRNA<sup>Cys</sup> (217), a substantial misincorporation of Sec in place of cysteine is unlikely to occur during translation. When SeMet-containing proteins are degraded, the free SeMet can be metabolized by either the transamination pathway to Sec or the transsulfuration pathway to selenide. The nonspecific incorporation of SeMet into proteins can markedly increase tissue Se levels beyond those associated with Sec proteins. This, in effect, renders SeMet a storage form of Se. As its mobilization depends on protein turnover, it does not usually provide a readily accessible reserve for maintaining selenoprotein expression (195). Because plants lack Sec proteins (203), SeMet is the major tissue form (10).

**3.2.2.** Formation of selenosugars. Selenosugar (seleno-N-acetyl-D-galactosamine, SeGal-Nac), with the Se directly linked to the 1 carbon of galactosamine, was identified as GSH-SeGalNac in the liver of rats and birds, whereas an apparent derivative, 18-methyl-SeGalNac, was identified as the dominant form of Se in human urine (81). These metabolites are thought to be generated from an inorganic selenide-GSH pool. They have also been found in rat liver and kidney (55, 172), pig liver (97), and quail plasma and liver (2). Recent studies have found that SeGalNac accounts for a large amount of the Se in the liver of turkey. It was found to be linked via Se-S bonds to general proteins, composing a greater portion of liver Se than Sec in selenoproteins (80). Supranutritional levels of dietary selenite (2 or 5 µg Se/kg) further increased hepatic levels of selenosugars linked to low molecular weight thiols as well as selenosugar-decorated proteins (80). Studies in rats on early <sup>75</sup>Se metabolism found very rapid Se metabolism from a diverse set of inorganic and organic selenocompounds to a common selenide-level intermediate used for synthesis and incorporation of <sup>75</sup>Se into the major selenoproteins in a variety of tissues. The missing <sup>75</sup>Se in these selenoprotein profiles, especially at early time points, further suggested that substantial tissue Se in Se-supplemented animals was present in both low- and high-molecular-weight selenosugars in addition to selenoproteins (Figure 1) (46).

**3.2.3.** Methylation and other conversions. Early studies have revealed that selenide can be methylated into forms that are excreted in the urine: methylselenol ( $[CH_3]_2Se$ ) and trimethyl selenonium ( $[CH_3]_3Se^+$ ). Another metabolite, dimethyl selenide ( $[CH_3]_2Se$ ), which is excreted from the lung, is formed at higher Se intakes. Meanwhile, ingested Se can be converted to other metabolites. A selenoimidazole, selenoneine (2-Se-*N*,*N*,*N*-trimethyl-L-histidine), occurs as the major circulating form of Se in tuna and is also found in tissues of chickens and pigs (210). This metabolite is present in zebrafish embryos as well, where it appears to reduce the accumulation of methylmercury (209). However, its metabolic origin is unclear.

Several apparent Se-binding proteins that do not appear to contain Sec have been reported. These include a 14-kDa protein with a peptide sequence similar to that of the fatty acid binding protein (6) and several 56- to 58-kDa proteins similar to the acetaminophen-binding protein (110, 134). These proteins, however, do not appear to incorporate Se during their synthesis, as pretreatment with cycloheximide does not block the radioactive Se labeling (45). These observations may also be due to contamination by true selenoproteins of similar weights. A highly conserved 56-kDa species is now designated as Se binding protein-1 (SBP1), which also has methane thiol oxidase activity (182) and is expressed in mammalian tissues as well as plants (42). The polypeptide contains a single cysteine residue, a likely Se binding site. Expression of SBP1 is low in many cancers and is associated with poor clinical outcomes (42).

#### 3.3. Excretion and Balance

Under conditions of low to moderate Se intakes, body Se balance is maintained primarily through urinary excretion (114). Metabolic tracer studies have shown that, over a 12-day period, Se-adequate adults excreted ~17% of Se from an oral selenite dose but only ~11% of Se from an oral SeMet dose (129). The longer turnover of the latter is thought to be due to its nonspecific incorporation into body proteins under normal circumstances, when there appears to be only a small enterohepatic circulation of absorbed Se. Therefore, fecal Se constitutes mostly unabsorbed dietary Se. High Se intakes in rats resulted in increased urinary excretion of  $[CH_3]_3Se^+$ , whereas acute subtoxic Se intakes led to an excretion in the breath as  $[CH_3]_2Se(77)$ . Thus, the significance of various routes of Se excretion depends on both the magnitude and form of ingested Se as well as the level of body Se reserves. Other elements (arsenic, copper, lead, and mercury) have also been implicated as effectors of Se absorption and retention (114, 119, 170).

#### 4. FUNCTIONS AND REGULATIONS OF SELENOPROTEOMES AND SELENOGENOMES

#### 4.1. Biochemical and Metabolic Properties of Selenoproteins

The vertebrate selenoproteome has been characterized using Sec and SECIS transcript elements as a signature to screen annotated genomes for selenoproteins (10, 54, 100, 166). This approach has identified 25 selenoproteins in humans, pigs, cattle, sheep, and horses (100) but only 24 selenoproteins in rodents and chickens (**Table 1**). Of these, two were found only in the chicken (SELENOU, SELENOP2) (**Figure 2***a*). Although *SEPHS2* was not found in the early chicken genome assembly (90), it was identified in some EST sequences from *Gallus gallus* (101), and its transcript was detected in the adipose tissue of chickens (91). Two selenoproteins found in mammals (GPX6 and SELENOV) are missing in chickens (90). The selenoproteome of pigs (**Figure 3***a*) resembles those of humans and rodents, but porcine GPX1 surprisingly shows the closest evolutionary relationships with that of sheep and cattle among eight domestic species (24).

Selenoproteins are predominately oxidoreductases. With a few exceptions, their Sec moieties are located in the polypeptide backbone of the active site (**Table 1**). The best characterized selenoproteins are the glutathione peroxidases (GPX1–4), which catalyze the reduction of peroxides using reducing equivalents from glutathione. Other selenoproteins include the iodothyronine 5' deiodinases (DIO1–3), which regulate thyroxine hormone function by reductive deiodination; the thioredoxin reductases (TXNRD1–3), which contain Sec as the penultimate C-terminal amino acid and reduce thioredoxin, glutaredoxin, and other low-molecular-weight compounds using reducing equivalents from NADPH; a methionine sulfide reductase (MSRB1), which also contains zinc and repairs oxidized methionine residues in proteins; and selenophosphate synthase 2 (SEPHS2), which catalyzes the ATP-dependent formation of selenophosphate from selenide in the first step in forming Sec-tRNA<sup>Sec</sup> in all vertebrates. SELENOP is secreted predominately by liver into the plasma, where it can account for half of plasma Se. Human and rodent SELENOPs

Note	Global $Gpx4^{-/-}$ is ELTM but	HTTU			Sec in only humans and pigs	Deficiency of any of the three genes	is intolerant to humans		Global $TxmrdI^{-/-}$ is ELTM, and	the deficiency is		also
Main function(s)	Redox modulation as free radical scavengers; involved	in metabolism of macronutrients, cell survival and death, and remoduction				Thyroid hormone metabolism			Acting as oxidoreductase to reduce cvtosolic	and/or mitochondrial		thioredoxin and/or
Accession number	NP_000572.2/ NP_110453.3/ NP_001264782	NP_002074.2/ NP_899653.2/ NP_001264783	NP_002075.2/ NP_071970.2/ NP_001156704	NP_002076.2 (NP_001354761.1)/ NP_08861.3 (NP_001354972.1)/ NP_989551.2 (NP_001333377.1) NP_001333377.1)	NP_874360.1/ NA/NA	NP_000783.2/ NP_067685.5/ NP_001091083.1	NP_054644.1/ NP_113908.4/ NP_989445	NP_001353.4/ NP_058906.3/ NP_001116120.1	NP_003321.3 (NP_877419.1)/ NP_001338913.1	(NP_001338912.1)/ NP_001025933		(NP 001338952.1)
Position of Sec (H/R/A)	49/47/39	40/40/41	73/73/71	73(46)/73(46)/ 70(70, 67)	73/NA/NA	126/126/124	133/130/132	170/170/139	550(498)/579 (498)/498(497)			
Number of AA(H/R/A) <sup>a</sup>	203/201/195	190/190/191	226/226/219	197(170)/197 (170)/202 (194, 191)	221/NA/NA	249/257/246	273/262/279	304/304/274	551(499)/580 (499)/499(498)			
Outcome of global knockout in mice	Viable	Viable	Viable	Embryonic lethal	Knockout model unavailable	Viable	Viable	Viable	Embryonic lethal			
Gene	GPXI	GPX2	GPX3	GPX4	GPX6	DIOI	D102	DIO3	TXNRD1		_	
Selenoprotein	Glutathione peroxidases					Iodothyronine 5' deiodinases			Thioredoxin reductases		_	

(Continued)

Annu. Rev. Nutr. 2022.42:337-375. Downloaded from www.annualreviews.org Access provided by Cornell University on 09/04/22. For personal use only.

Table 1 Comparative selenoproteomes of humans, rodents, and avian species

Selenoprotein	Gene	Outcome of global knockout in mice	Number of AA(H/R/A) <sup>a</sup>	Position of Sec (H/R/A)	Accession number	Main function(s)	Note
	TXNRD2	Embryonic lethal	524/526/514	523/525/513	NP_006431.2/ NP_072106.1/ NP_001116163		Global <i>Txmd2-/-</i> is ELTM but DT'TH
	TXNRD3	Knockout model unavailable	643(607)/652 (615)/606	642(606)/651 (614)/605	NP_443115.1 (NP_001166984.1)/ NP_001171641.1 (NP_001100079.2)/ NP_001116249	I	
Methionine sulfide reductase	MSRB1	Viable	116/116/111	95/95/93	NP_057416.1/ NP_001037750.2/ NP_001129030	Repair of oxidized methionine in proteins	
Selenophosphate synthase 2	SEPHS2	Knockout model unavailable	448/451/NA	60/62/NA	NP_0380.2/NP- 001073358.2/NA	Selenoprotein synthesis	Not found in early genome of chickens, but identified from EST sequences and expression
Selenoprotein P	SELENOP	Viable	385/385/393	59, 264, 282, 371, 373, 357, 371, 373, 380, 382/59, 264, 282, 323, 335, 357, 371, 373, 387, 371, 373, 381, 343, 356, 381, 388, 360, 381, 388, 390, 381, 388, 390	NP_062065.2/ NP_001077380.1/ NP_001026780.2	Se transport	10 Sec in mammals, 13 Sec in avian species
	SELENOP2	Knockout model unavailable	NA/NA/263	NA/NA/59	NA/NA/NP- 001335698.1	Unknown, but putative functions similar to SELENOP	Avian and fish only
Selenoprotein W	SELENOW	Viable	87/88/85	13/13/13	NP_003000.1/ NP_037159.4/ NP_001338303.1 (NP-001159799.1)	Putative antioxidant, muscle integrity?	
							(Continued)

Annu. Rev. Nutr. 2022.42:337-375. Downloaded from www.annualreviews.org Access provided by Cornell University on 09/04/22. For personal use only.

Table 1 (Continued)

om www.annualreviews.org	22. For personal use only.
-375. Downloaded frc	University on 09/04/2
Annu. Rev. Nutr. 2022.42:337	Access provided by Cornell

Table 1 (Continued)

(Continued)							
	ER-resident thioredoxin-like oxidoreductase, quality control of protein folding in ER	NP_004252.2/ NP_579831.2/ NP_001012944.2NP-	16/26/96	165/162/160	Viable	SELENOF	Selenoprotein F
	ER-resident protein, involved in body weight and energy metabolism control; highly expressed in brain with neuroprotective properties	NP_536355.1/ NP_001108485.1/ NP_001264788.1	48/48/37	145/145/152	Viable	SELENOM	Selenoprotein M
Global Setenoi <sup>-/-</sup> is ELTM	Catalyzing phosphatidyl ethanolamine biosynthesis	NP_277040.1/ NP_001128226.2/ NP_001264794.1	386/388/384	397/398/400	Embryonic lethal	SELENOI	Selenoprotein I
	In nucleus, regulation of redox sensing and transcription	NP_734467.1/ NP_001308221/ NP_001264794.1	44/38/51	122/116/129	Knockout model unavailable	SELENOH	Selenoprotein H
Avian only	Unknown	$\begin{array}{c} {\rm NA/NA/} \\ {\rm NP\_001180448.1} \\ {\rm (NP\_001180447.1)} \end{array}$	A/NA/85	NA/NA/224	Knockout model unavailable	SELENOU	Selenoprotein U
Placental animal only	Regulation of lipogenesis and energy expenditure	NP_874363.1/ NP_001159868.1/ NA	273/253/NA	346/326/NA	Viable	SELENOV	Selenoprotein V
Global Selenot <sup>-/-</sup> is ELTM, and the deficiency is also intolerant to humans	Oxidoreductase in Golgi, ER, and cytosol, involved in redox regulation and anchorage	NP_057359.2/ NP-001014275.2/ NP_001006557	49/49/53	195/195/199	Embryonic lethal	SELENOT	Selenoprotein T
Note	Main function(s)	Accession number	Position of Sec (H/R/A)	Number of AA(H/R/A) <sup>a</sup>	Outcome of global knockout in mice	Gene	Selenoprotein

# Table 1 (Continued)

Note	Mutations cause multi- minicore disease and other myopathies			
Main function(s)	Localized to ER, muscle development	In mitochondria, containing a CXXU motif, possible redox and kinase function	Localized to ER, involved in Ca flux in immune cells and chaperone-like function in ER-associated degradation of misfolded proteins	Localized to ER, involved in ER-associated degradation and anti-inflammation
Accession number	NP_065184.2 (NP_996809.1)/ XP_038967216.1 (XP_008762412.3)/ NP_001108444.1	NP_113642.1/ NP_001078954.1/ NP_001108489.3	NP_067060.2/ NP_997472.2/ NP_001020612.1	NP_060915.2/ NP_775143.2/ NP_001919905.1
Position of Sec (H/R/A)	427(428)/ 427(381)/402	667/664/668	92/92/93	188/189/193
Number of AA(H/R/A) <sup>a</sup>	590(556)/ 557(510)/530	669/666/670	94/94/95	189/190/194
Outcome of global knockout in mice	Viable	Viable	Viable	Knockout model unavailable
Gene	SELENON	SELENOO	SELENOK	SELENOS
Selenoprotein	Selenoprotein N	Selenoprotein O	Selenoprotein K	Selenoprotein S

<sup>a</sup> Alternate forms of the same protein listed in parentheses. Abbreviations: AA, amino acid; DTTH, deficiency tolerant to humans; ELTM, embryonic lethal to mice; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; H/R/A, humans/rodents/avian species; NA, not applicable or existing in the given species.



#### Figure 2

(a) Comparative selenogenomes of avian (chicken, in red box) and mammalian (human, in blue box) species. Common genes in both species are shown in the middle overlap area of the two boxes. The asterisk indicates that whereas SEPHS2 was not found in the early chicken genome assembly (90), it was identified in some EST sequences from Gallus gallus (101), and its transcript expression was detected in the adipose tissue of chickens (91). (b) Effects of dietary Se deficiency (<0.06 mg/kg), in comparison with Se adequacy (>0.2 mg/kg), on selenotranscriptome expression (decreases) in the liver (yellow), pectoral muscle (blue), and pancreas (pink) of chickens (2-6 weeks of age). Genes showing similar changes in the three tissues and between liver and muscle are listed in the respective overlap areas. Genes showing specific changes within a given tissue are listed in that tissue only. (c) Effects of three forms of supplemental dietary Se on the selenotranscriptome (*italic*) expression and selenoprotein production in the liver and pectoral and thigh muscles of chickens (3-6 weeks of age). Genes or proteins in red indicate an increase; genes in green indicate a decrease; genes and proteins listed in the overlap area of the three compounds were compared with the Se-deficient basal diet; genes and proteins listed in the overlap area of SeY and SeO with a plus symbol were compared with the SeNa group; and genes and proteins listed in the SeO area with two plus symbols were compared with the SeNa and SeY groups. SeO upregulated the SELENOS mRNA compared with the Se-deficient basal diet. In all panels, DIO1, 2, and 3 equal iodothyronine deiodinase 1, 2, and 3, respectively; GPX1, 2, 3, 4, and 6 equal glutathione peroxidase 1, 2, 3, 4, and 6, respectively; MSRB1 equals methionine-R-sulfoxide reductase 1; SELENOF, H, I, K, M, N, O, P, P2, S, T, U, V, and W equal selenoprotein F, H, I, K, M, N, O, P, P2, S, T, U, V, and W, respectively; SEPHS2 equals selenophosphate synthetase 2; and TXNRD1, 2, and 3 equal thioredoxin reductase 1, 2, and 3, respectively. Abbreviations: SeNa, sodium selenite; SeO, 2-hydroxy-4-methyl selenobutanoic acid; SeY, seleno-yeast. Figure adapted from References 90, 159, and 225.

have 10 Secs in the peptide and two SECIS elements in the 3' UTR. The Sec located in the middle of the sequence may have peroxidase activity. The additional Secs located in the C terminus appear to be without catalytic activity, instead functioning to transport Se. Circulating SELENOP binds to ApoER2 receptors that have been identified in testes and brain, facilitating the targeted transfer of Se to tissues, particularly under conditions of Se deficiency. In birds, SELENOP has 13 Sec residues, with 12 of its 13 Sec residues located in the C terminus. However, SELENOP2 has only a single Sec residue (90, 166).

Several other selenoproteins including SELENOW, SELENOT, SELENOH, and SELENOV appear to be oxidoreductases. Each contains Sec in a CXXU sequence located in a thioredoxin fold. Deletion of SELENOV affected tissue Se distribution (22) and elevated lipogenesis and decreased energy expenditure in male mice, leading to the accumulation of body fat via a cascade of SELENOV–O-GlcNAc transferase–AMP-activated protein kinase (21).



#### Figure 3

(*a*) Phylogenetic scheme of the 25 identified porcine selenoproteins that fall into two primitive groups and three parallel branches. (*b*) Effects of dietary concentrations of Se (mg/kg) (deficiency: <0.02 to 0.03 and excess: 0.4 to 3.0 in comparison with adequacy: 0.1 to 0.3) and fat (wt/wt%) (high fat: 3–7% lard in comparison with normal fat: <0.83% crude fat) on expression of selenotranscriptome (*italic*) and production of selenoproteins in the liver and other tissues of pigs (2–6 months of age and 20–120 kg of body weight). Genes and proteins affected by both dietary Se and fat concentrations are listed in the overlap area between the pink and yellow circles; those affected by dietary concentrations of only Se or fat are listed in the pink and yellow circles, respectively. Genes and proteins in blue were affected by both dietary Se deficiency and excess; those in red were affected by dietary Se excess; and those in green were affected by dietary Se deficiency. (*c*) Dose-dependent effects of dietary Se concentrations on susceptibility to classical Se–vitamin E deficiency diseases, expression of selenotranscriptome and production of selenoproteome, risk of abnormal metabolism, and overt toxicity in pigs. In all panels, DIO1, 2, and 3 equal iodothyronine deiodinase 1, 2, and 3, respectively; GPX1, 2, 3, 4, and 6 equal glutathione peroxidase 1, 2, 3, 4, and 6, respectively; MSRB1 equals methionine-R-sulfoxide reductase 1; SELENOF, H, I, K, M, N, O, P, P2, S, T, U, V, and W equal selenoprotein F, H, I, K, M, N, O, P, P2, S, T, U, V, and W, respectively; SEPHS2 equals selenophosphate synthetase 2; and TXNRD1, 2, and 3 equal thioredoxin reductase 1, 2, and 3, respectively. Figure adapted from Reference 24 and based on data from Reference 224.

SELENOI has phosphatidyltransferase activity, catalyzing formation of phosphatidyl ethanolamine. SELENOM and SELENOF are located in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER); they also have thioredoxin-like folds and are associated with the elimination of misfolded proteins. SELENOK and SELENOS each have a single transmembrane domain; they, too, are associated with elimination of misfolded proteins (63). SELENOO is the largest selenoprotein with unknown function. SELENON functions in muscle differentiation and development, and its mutations are associated with early onset muscular disorders in humans, implying a possible involvement in white muscle diseases in animals (146). While knockout models of *Selenob*, *Selenoo*, *Selenos*, *Sephs2*, and *Txnrd3* are not reported, global knockouts of the remaining 19 selenoprotein genes in mice caused embryonic lethality in only five homozygous lines ( $Gpx4^{-/-}$ ,  $Trxnd1^{-/-}$ ,  $Trxnd2^{-/-}$ , *Selenoi*<sup>-/-</sup>, and *Selenot*<sup>-/-</sup>) (**Table 1**). Humans may tolerate the deficiency of *GPX4* or *TXNRD2* but not the loss of any of the DIO enzymes (140).

#### 4.2. Regulation of Selenoproteome and Selenogenome

Effects of dietary Se on selenoprotein production in several species have been reviewed (24, 70, 90, 166, 224). In general, production of many, but not all, selenoproteins is decreased by deprivation of Se and restored by Se supplementation. The production is reported to be affected by dietary vitamin E and fat concentrations (67, 223), but dietary vitamin E deficiency in otherwise healthy rats showed no direct effect on concentrations of liver Se or activities of plasma GPX3, red blood cell GPX1, liver GPX1, and liver GPX4 (168). This suggests that selenoproteome changes are more likely due to downstream effects of dietary vitamin E deficiency.

Likewise, expression of many, but not all, selenotranscripts responds to changes in dietary Se intakes. These responses appear to vary with species, tissue, and subcellular location and seem to imply the biological relevance of those encoded proteins. As described above, global knockouts of 19 selenoprotein genes in mice caused embryonic lethality in only five homozygous lines. All heterozygous knockouts, with only 50% of protein or activity of the altered selenoproteins, seemed to be viable and/or to breed well under nonstressed conditions. Therefore, we should be cautious to directly relate numerical changes of tissue selenotranscriptome or selenoproteome expression, despite statistical significances, to body metabolic outcomes.

**4.2.1. Rodents.** Many studies have used only two to three concentrations of dietary Se and determined their effects on functional expression of several selenoprotein genes in two or three tissues. In contrast, a comprehensive rat study used 10 graded levels (0–0.8 mg Se/kg) of selenite supplementation in a basal diet (0.007 mg Se/kg) and measured concentrations of Se; activities of GPX1, GPX3, and GPX4; and transcript expression of 24 selenoproteins in the liver, kidney, muscle, and/or blood (7). Dietary Se deficiency decreased hepatic transcript expressions of just 11 of the 24 selenoproteins. Relative to the Se-adequate levels, liver mRNA levels of *Gpx1* were decreased to <10%, *Selenoh* and *Selenow* to <25%, and *Dio1*, *Gpx3*, *Selenot*, and *Txnrd3* to <50%. The Se response curve analyses indicated that liver GPX1 activity, plasma GPX3 activity, all tissue GPX4 activities, and liver Se concentration reached plateaus at  $\leq$ 0.1 mg Se/kg of diet, whereas kidney Se concentration, GPX1 activity, and muscle GPX1 activity needed 0.1 to 0.15 mg Se/kg to be saturated. However, the full selenoprotein transcript expression occurred at <0.07 mg Se/kg (165).

Transcript expression of selenoproteins in mice also showed varied responses to dietary Se or fat (228). Thirteen genes (*Gpx1*, *Gpx3*, *Gpx4*, *Selenok*, *Selenoh*, *Selenom*, *Selenop*, *Selenos*, *Selenox*, *Txnrd2*, and *Txnrd3*) were downregulated by Se deprivation in the liver. Twelve genes were affected by both dietary Se and fat concentrations including those five genes encoding ER-resident proteins (*Dio2*, *Selenof*, *Selenok*, *Selenow*, and *Selenos*) (228). Five genes showed relatively low or little response (*Gpx2*, *Selenon*, *Selenoo*, *Selenov*, and *Sephs2*) to either dietary Se or fat concentrations.

**4.2.2. Pigs.** Regulation of selenotranscript expression by dietary Se in pigs is largely similar to that in rodents. Only *DIO2*, *DIO3*, *SELENOF*, and *SELENOI* showed different responses to Se deprivation from those of the mouse genes (224). Production of porcine GPX1, SELENOP, SELENOS, and SELENOH were readily decreased in several tissues by Se deprivation (224), while expressions of *GPX4*, *DIO2*, *SELENOK*, *TXNRD2*, or *TXNRD3*) were less affected

(93, 95, 98). High dietary fat intakes up- or downregulated expressions of most selenoprotein genes (except for *TXNRD2* and *TXNRD3*) and seemed to affect the expressions of *DIO2*, *GPX6*, and *SELENOK* that were unaffected by dietary Se concentrations (93, 194, 223) (Figure 3b). The effects of high dietary fat intakes were associated with changes in plasma levels of tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin-6 (223). Supplemental dietary serine elevated the mRNA levels and/or activities of GPX1, GPX2, TXNRD1, TXNRD2, and/or SELENOI in the skeletal muscle and liver of pigs (96). Heat and immune (via the administration of lipopolysaccharide) stresses altered selenoprotein gene expression in porcine cell lines and tissues, respectively (224).

**4.2.3. Birds.** In chickens, expression of *GPX1*, *GPX4*, *SELENOM*, *SELENOO*, and *SELENOU* was downregulated by dietary Se deficiency in the liver, muscle, and pancreas, whereas the same effect on the remaining genes was relatively weak and/or tissue specific (90) (**Figure 2***b*). Compared with sodium selenite, two sources of organic Se induced greater levels of transcripts, proteins, and/or activities of several selenoproteins in the liver and muscle of chickens (159, 225) (**Figure 2***c*). Different from that of rodents, *GPX4* mRNA in chickens was readily decreased by Se deprivation (67, 69, 89, 164, 208). In both chickens and turkeys, *GPX3* and *GPX4* transcript changes did not consistently lead to changes in selenoprotein levels (69, 164). In turkey liver, only *SELENOU*, *DIO1*, *SELENOP1*, and *SELENOP2* were significantly decreased by Se deficiency as assessed by differential expression of individual genes, whereas 13 selenotranscripts contributed to the significant downregulation of the selenotranscriptome as shown by gene set enrichment analysis (178).

# 5. HEALTH EFFECTS OF Se AND NEW PATHOLOGICAL MECHANISMS

#### 5.1. Molecular Mechanisms of Se Deficiency Disorders in Various Species

Although the first pathologies associated with Se deficiency were reported in 1957, fundamental mechanisms for the pathogeneses of those Se deficiency diseases have remained elusive. Several recent studies have replicated a few of these classical deficiency symptoms in chicks, pigs, and cows for elucidating the underlying molecular bases.

**5.1.1. Liver necrosis in pigs.** The mechanisms underlying the development of liver necrosis are partially understood. The condition was manifested as apoptosis and necroptosis, apparently due to the activation of the oxidative stress pathway (222) accompanied by a shift of the tricarboxylic acid cycle to glutamine catabolism with impaired hepatic lipid synthesis (173).

**5.1.2.** Exudative diathesis in chickens. Exudative diathesis involves increased vascular permeability, resulting in edema in depending (a special term referring to lower anatomical regions in which body fluids tend to pool) aspect of the body. In the chick, the condition was associated with downregulation of *GPX1*, *GPX4*, *SELENOW*, *SELENON*, *SELENOP1*, *SELENOO*, and *SELENOK* transcripts in the liver and muscle (67). The incidence and mortality were completely prevented by supplemental dietary Se but only partially decreased by supplemental  $\alpha$ -tocopherol acetate. Interestingly, supplementing  $\alpha$ -tocopherol acetate decreased (P < 0.05) hepatic *GPX1*, *SELENOI*, *TXNRD1*, and *TXNRD2* transcripts. The inverse relationship between hepatic expression of these redox-related selenoprotein genes and vitamin E status underscores the complex roles of Se and vitamin E in preventing exudative diathesis.

**5.1.3.** Nutritional myopathies in chickens. Se-deficient chicks showed apoptosis in the pectoral and other skeletal muscles, associated with decreased gene expression of ER-resident

selenoproteins (SELENON, SELENOT, SELENOK, and SELENOS) (216). This finding indicated increased susceptibility of myocytes to oxidative cell death, which in Se-adequate animals was prevented by metabolizing endogenously produced peroxides and regulating redox/apoptotic signaling (69).

**5.1.4.** Nutritional pancreatic atrophy in chickens. Digital gene expression analysis of nutritional pancreatic atrophy of chicks indicated that Se deprivation altered the expression of 884 unigenes, with 360 of them upregulated and 524 of them downregulated, in the pancreatic transcriptome. Of the differentially expressed genes, 530 unigenes were annotated and 65 of them were classified into pathways related to Se-compound metabolism and apoptosis (68).

**5.1.5. Impaired reproduction in cattle.** Dietary Se deficiency has a well-known association with increased rates of retained placenta and embryonic loss and decreased fertilization rate. The direct mode of action was speculated to be connected to the regulation of oxidative stress in the periparturient cows (154). Additionally, improved fertility by supplemental Se might result from increased progesterone concentrations during the early luteal phase, particularly when cows consumed organic sources of Se with greater bioavailability (18, 20). Increased progesterone concentrations during the successful pregnancy outcomes, particularly in lower fertility cows (211).

#### 5.2. Se Deficiency-Associated Diseases in Humans

Severe endemic Se deficiency is linked with two diseases in humans: Keshan disease (KD), a juvenile cardiomyopathy, and Kashin-Beck disease (KBD), an osteoarthropathy. These disorders were described in rural, mountainous areas of central and northeastern China and Russia (eastern Siberia) where food systems were exceedingly low in Se (soils <125  $\mu$ g/kg; grains <40  $\mu$ g/kg) and humans had blood Se concentrations of <25 ng/ml (compared with 85–200 ng/ml in the United States).

**5.2.1. Keshan disease.** KD is a multifocal myocarditis primarily affecting children 2–10 years of age and, to a lesser extent, women of child-bearing age. Diagnosis is based on signs of acute or chronic cardiac insufficiency, cardiac enlargement, arrhythmia, and electrocardiographic abnormalities (51). Affected individuals may show cardiogenic shock or congestive heart failure. In the 1970s, Chinese scientists found Se to be effective in preventing the disease (25). This discovery led to the widespread use of Se supplements (oral doses of sodium selenite at 0.5 to 1 mg Se/week, or table salt fortified with selenite at 10 to 15 mg Se/kg of salt) (23). Such interventions have virtually eliminated KD from previously affected areas. The disease might be caused by cardiophilic RNA viruses, whose mutations could be potentiated in severe Se deficiency (8, 9).

Expression profile analysis of Se-related genes in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of patients with KD identified 16 upregulated and 11 downregulated Se-related genes compared with those in healthy controls. These genes were involved in apoptosis, metabolism, transcription regulation, ion transport, and growth and development (94). Proteomic analysis of the patient serum revealed 9 significantly altered proteins among 27 differentially expressed proteins compared with that of healthy adults (161). The differentially expressed proteins were mainly involved in complement coagulation pathways. Another proteomic analysis of the patient serum samples identified 105 differentially expressed proteins including 19 Se-associated proteins involved in hypoxia-inducible factor 1 signaling and apoptosis pathways (192).

**5.2.2. Kashin-Beck disease.** KBD is an osteoarthropathy affecting the epiphyseal and articular cartilage and epiphyseal growth plates of growing bones. It presents as enlarged joints (especially of fingers, toes, and knees); shortened fingers, toes, and extremities; and, in severe cases, dwarfism. A meta-analysis of 15 clinical trials (232) suggested that Se supplementation had some value in preventing the disease. However, additional factors, including iodine deficiency and exposure to fungal toxins, have been implicated as etiological factors.

Transcription profile of selenoprotein in PBMCs of KBD patients showed 17 downregulated and 2 upregulated (*GPX4* and *SELENOM*) selenotranscripts. The transcripts of *GPX2*, *GPX3*, *DIO1*, *TXNRD1*, *TXNRD3*, and *SPS2* were most closely associated with those of apoptosis-related genes in the patients (215). Further genome-wide differential methylation analyses revealed distinct differentially methylated regions in conjunction with corresponding differentially methylated genes and enriched functional pathways in KBD and osteoarthritis; these genes are all key to regulating cartilage/skeletal physiologic and pathologic processes (48).

#### 5.3. Role of Se in Anticarcinogenesis

That Se may be anticarcinogenic was proposed in the late 1960s on the basis of inverse relationships of cancer mortality rates and forage crop Se contents in the United States (150). Subsequent epidemiology found blood Se concentrations to be inversely associated with the prevalence of colorectal and prostate cancer (31).

**5.3.1. Animal studies.** Hundreds of studies with tumor models have found both inorganic and organic forms of Se to be effective in preventing carcinogenesis. In fact, this has been the finding in every model examined, including models of primary tumorigenesis in which tumors are induced by chemical or viral agents and models of secondary tumorigenesis in which tumors are induced by transplanting primary tumor cells. The antioxidant functions of selenoproteins would suggest anticarcinogenic functions (60, 230). Tumors have been found to express variant forms of *GPX1* (66) and to underexpress *GPX1*, *GPX3*, and *SELENOP* (111). The i<sup>6</sup>A<sup>-</sup> transgenic mouse, which has reduced expression of most selenoproteins due to a dysfunctional tRNA<sup>[Ser]SeCys</sup>, shows accelerated prostate carcinogenesis (37). Single-nucleotide polymorphisms of several selenoproteins have been linked to cancer risk (4, 137).

These effects would appear to be maximized in animals fed nutritionally adequate levels of Se, for example, 0.1–0.2 mg/kg of diet. However, in all animal tumor model studies, anticarcinogenesis has been observed with supranutritional exposures to Se, that is, levels substantially greater (10–20 times) than those needed for maximal selenoprotein expression. This observation implies mechanisms unlikely to involve selenoproteins, with the possible exception of SELENOW, the mRNA for which has been reported to be upregulated under conditions of supranutritional Se treatment (61). Evidence suggests other underlying mechanisms (74): production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) by the redox cycling of selenides; modification of protein thiols by selenides; and substitution of SeMet for methionine in key proteins, increasing their sensitivity to ROS.

**5.3.2. Human interventions.** The anticarcinogenic potential of Se remains a subject of debate. Only a few clinical trials have been conducted to test the hypothesis that Se may reduce cancer risk in humans (12, 26, 176, 218). Systematic reviews have differed in their assessments of those results (34, 141, 189), influenced by apparently conflicting results of two major intervention trials.

The Nutritional Prevention of Cancer (NPC) Trial (26) showed that supplemental Se (200  $\mu$ g/day in the form of a high-Se yeast) significantly reduced risks to total cancers and to prostate and colorectal carcinomas over more than 7 years of intervention. The larger Selenium

and Vitamin E Cancer Trial (SELECT) (92) found no protection by the same dose of Se, provided as SeMet, against prostate cancer over a 5-year intervention period. Consideration of the blood Se levels of each cohort shows that, in fact, their results were consistent: SELECT subjects had relatively high baseline plasma Se levels (averaging 136 ng/ml), that is, comparable with those of NPC subjects that did not show prostate cancer risk reduction by Se [risk reduction was noted only among NPC subjects in the lowest tertile of baseline plasma Se status, i.e., <106 ng/ml (38)]. Many have missed this point. Overall, it appears that supplemental Se may reduce the risk of certain cancers in many people, especially in those with low or nutritionally adequate, but not high, Se status.

# 6. BIOMARKERS OF BODY Se STATUS AND DIETARY Se REQUIREMENTS

#### 6.1. Biomarkers of Se Status

The word status is a term of art in the field of nutrition referring to the amount of metabolically active or potentially metabolically active Se or other nutrients in various tissues. Accordingly, Se status is a product of an individual's intake, retention, and metabolism of this micronutrient. It has four components: Se intake, tissue Se, Se excretion, and Se function (29).

The establishment of dietary requirements for Se (or any essential nutrient) requires parameters (biomarkers) that are both accessible and measurable with levels and activities that vary in predictable ways according to the magnitude of exposure to that nutrient. Useful biomarkers of Se status include gene transcript, protein abundance, and enzyme activity of selenoproteins and tissue Se concentrations. The levels of these biomarkers fall upon Se deprivation, thus distinguishing adequate from deficient status.

The most useful biomarkers of Se status are those that consistently show well-defined doseresponse functions. These include plasma GPX3 activity, liver GPX1 activity, and liver GPX4 activity for animals (165) (**Figure 4***a*), and plasma GPX3 activity and SELNOP concentration for humans (15, 207) (**Figure 4***b*). Simply, erythrocyte GPX1 activity and tissue Se are less useful, because although they decrease in Se deficiency, they increase over a wide range of Se intakes, overshooting the levels required to prevent deficiency disease. Dose-response curves of Se biomarkers can be constructed to impute dietary Se requirements. However, responses of a given biomarker to dietary Se and other treatments could be very different or even opposite between tissues (228). Thus, multiple biomarkers in several tissues should be considered to provide a full and accurate spectrum of Se status.

#### 6.2. Recommended Dietary Se Intakes for Animals

Recommended dietary Se concentrations or intakes for laboratory, food- and wool-producing, and companion animals are established by expert panels convened by the National Academies of Science, Engineering, and Medicine, formerly the National Research Council (NRC) of the National Academy of Sciences. The recommendations are based, as much as possible, on published research; where necessary, they are extrapolated from such data. These currently available recommendations are summarized in **Table 2** and briefly discussed below.

**6.2.1.** Laboratory animals. The recommended Se level of 0.15 mg/kg for growing rats was based on the minimal amount (0.1 mg/kg) required to support maximal expression of GPX1 activity in the liver (86, 185, 199) and a slightly higher level (0.15 mg/kg) required to protect against microvascular lesions in rats fed high-sucrose diets (40). Subsequent studies with multiple dietary

Se concentrations and biomarkers supported this recommendation (7). A higher dietary Se concentration of 0.4 mg/kg was recommended for pregnant and lactating rats (116). That concentration was rationalized by the lack of plateau of erythrocyte GPX1 activity, liver GPX1 activity, and liver Se concentration to graded dietary Se concentrations up to 0.3 mg/kg in young adult nulliparous females through lactation day 18 (153). Later studies showed that the Se needs for



(Caption appears on following page)

#### Figure 4 (Figure appears on preceding page)

(*a*) Example rodent and avian biomarkers of Se status. Shown are relative responsive levels of indicated biomarkers of Se status in rats and turkeys. Weanling rats and day-old turkeys from Se-adequate parents were fed Se-deficient diets supplemented with indicated levels of dietary Se as selenite for 4 weeks. Responses of tissue Se concentrations may depend in large part on the nature of consumed Se, as SeMet supports much greater tissue Se deposit than do selenite or selenate, particularly when dietary methionine is not in excess. Growth performance may not be a very responsive or specific biomarker of dietary Se changes in many species. Data are from References 135, 165, 177, and 179. (*b*) Human biomarkers of Se status. Shown are relative responsive levels of indicated biomarkers of Se status of low-Se Chinese subjects consuming 14  $\mu$ g/day and supplemented with additional Se as SeMet for 40 weeks. Deficient Se status is shown as 19  $\mu$ g/day [average of the male and female adult basal safe mean Se intake levels by the World Health Organization (204)] and recommended dietary allowance (RDA) as 55  $\mu$ g/day. Data are from Reference 207.

pregnancy and lactation were not substantially greater than those of rapidly growing rat pups (163). There is also no evidence that the Se requirements of rats change with age (167).

The NRC recommendation of a dietary Se concentration of 0.15 mg/kg for mice was based on the above-described apparent need of the rats. Moderate differences in Se intakes of otherwise adequately nourished mice did not affect growth, although low Se concentrations decreased activities of GPX1 in erythrocytes and liver as well as the Se content of liver (49, 165). Maximal activities of GPX3 in plasma and GPX1 and GPX4 in kidney were achieved with dietary Se concentrations of 0.05–0.08 mg/kg, while erythrocyte GPX1 activity plateaued at 0.12 mg/kg. These studies indicate that a dietary Se concentration of 0.2 mg/kg is adequate for mice. The recommended dietary Se concentrations for gerbils, guinea pigs, and hamsters (0.1 to 0.15 mg/kg) were based on the needs of the rats and apparently require experimental verification.

**6.2.2. Other nonruminants.** Recommendations of dietary Se concentrations for five domestic, simple-stomached mammals are in the range of 0.10 to 0.42 mg/kg (**Table 2**). Among these species, the estimates for pigs were the best studied and were based on maximal GPX activities in blood and other tissues. A study with growing pigs found maximal activities of GPX1 in liver, GPX4 in heart, and GPX3 in plasma at dietary Se concentrations of 0.2 mg/kg (85). That Se concentration also reduced in vivo lipid oxidation ( $F_2$  isoprostanes in plasma and liver). Fast-growing neonatal and weanling pigs may require greater Se intakes than grower or finisher pigs. Supplementing sows with Se-enriched yeast (79) or SeMet (47, 220) may help meet that need of weanling piglets. Boars are particularly susceptible to dietary Se deficiency. When fed low dietary Se concentrations, for example, <0.07 mg/kg, they developed characteristic changes in testicular structure (169).

The most recent NRC (120) recommendations of dietary Se for dogs and cats are 0.35 and 0.30 mg/kg of diet or 90 and 19  $\mu$ g/day, respectively. Earlier recommendations for these species were based on intakes of metabolizable energy and Se levels for protection against lesions observed in Se-deficient animals and/or the needs of other simple-stomached species. Because commercial diets for cats and dogs often contain high levels of animal protein and may be contaminated by a variety of pro-oxidants, it is suggested that those diets be supplemented with Se up to 0.5 mg/kg. However, the actual estimated Se requirements for kittens (197) and puppies (198), on the basis of responses of plasma and erythrocyte GPX activities, plasma Se concentrations, and plasma T3 concentrations to multiple dietary Se concentrations (kittens: 0.027 to 0.31 mg/kg; puppies: 0 to 0.52 mg/kg), were 0.15 and 0.21 mg/kg, respectively. The current NRC recommendation of dietary Se concentration (0.1 to 0.3 mg/kg) for horses falls in the same range of earlier estimates (157) and translates into a minimal intake of 1 to 1.25 mg Se/day for a horse with a 500-kg body weight (BW).

Species	Recommendation	Reference
Laboratory animals (mg/kg diet)		-
Rats	0.15	116
Mice	0.15	116
Gerbils	0.15–0.4	116
Guinea pigs	0.15	116
Hamsters	0.10	116
Nonhuman primates	0.11	118
Domestic nonruminants (mg/kg diet)		
Pigs	0.15-0.3	124
Dogs	0.35	120
Cats	0.30	120
Minks	0.05-0.42	113
Horses	0.1–0.3	121
Birds (mg/kg diet)	·	
Meat chickens, all ages	0.15	115
White egg–laying strains	0–6 weeks: 0.15	115
	6 weeks, first egg: 0.10	
Brown egg-laying strains	0–6 weeks: 0.14	115
	6 weeks, first egg: 0.10	
Turkeys, all ages	0.2	115
Ducks, 0–2 weeks	0.2	115
Japanese quails, all ages	0.2	115
Ruminants	·	•
Beef cattle (mg/kg DMI)	0.1	112
Dairy cattle (mg/kg DMI)	0.3	117
Sheep (mg/day)	Maintenance: 0.00025 mg/kg BW ÷ AC	122
	Growth: 0.50 mg/kg BW gain ÷ AC	
	Pregnancy (last trimester): 0.0025 mg/kg litter birth	
	weight ÷ AC	
	Lactation: 0.14 mg/kg milk yield ÷ AC	
	Wool: 0.38 mg/kg clean fleece weight ÷ AC	122
Goats (mg/day)	Maintenance: $(0.015 \text{ mg/kg DMI} + 0.083 \text{ mg}) \div \text{AC}$	122
	Growth: 0.5 mg/kg BVV gain ÷ AC Pregnancy (last trimester): 0.0021 mg/kg litter birth	
	weight - AC	
	Lactation: 0.10 mg/kg milk vield ÷ AC	
	Mohair: 0.38 mg/kg clean fleece weight ÷ AC	
Donkeys (µg/kg BW)	1-1.5	122
Camels (mg/day) (New World camelids)	0.74	122
Fish (mg/kg diet)	•	
Rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss)	0.15	123
Channel catfish ( <i>Ictalurus punctatus</i> )	0.25	123
Hybrid striped bass (Morone saxatilis $\times$ M. chrysops)	0.25	123
Grouper ( <i>Epinephelus</i> spp.)	0.7	123
Pacific white shrimp ( <i>Litopenaeus vannamei</i> )	0.2–0.4	123

#### Table 2 Recommended dietary Se intakes for animals and humans

(Continued)

#### Table 2 (Continued)

Species	Recommendation	Reference
Humans (µg/day)		
Based on plasma GPX3 activity	55	72
Based on plasma GPX3 activity	30 (women), 40 (men)	204
Based on plasma SELENOP concentration	75	207

Abbreviations: AC, absorption coefficient (0.31 for forages and 0.60 for concentrates); BW, body weight; DMI, dry matter intake.

**6.2.3. Birds.** The recommended dietary Se concentrations for various types of birds are 0.1 to 0.2 mg/kg. The Se concentration of 0.15 mg/kg for broiler chickens was based on studies of day-old chicks fed corn-soy or semipurified diets (78) containing 0.17 to 0.18 mg Se/kg and their responses of weight gain and feed intake compared with those fed basal diets containing 0.06 to 0.08 mg Se/kg. The recommendation was also supported by earlier studies for preventing poor growth and exudative diathesis (181) as well as pancreatic exocrine atrophy (56) and maximizing plasma GPX3 activity in chicks (126). Studies with a more recent breed of rapidly growing male broiler chicks fed adequate amounts of vitamin E showed that Se supplementation of a Se-deficient diet with 0.025 mg/kg significantly improved growth. Se supplementation of 0.10 to 0.13 mg/kg raised activities of GPX3 in plasma, GPX1 in liver, and GPX4 in gizzard to plateau levels (89). However, activities of pancreatic GPX1 and GPX4 did not plateau with these increases in dietary Se, suggesting that chickens may require an increase in dietary Se to 0.2 mg/kg.

The NRC recommendation for all classes of turkeys (dietary Se concentration of 0.2 mg/kg) was based on the studies of Scott and colleagues (148). They found that addition of Se at 0.1 mg/kg into a practical (basal) diet containing 0.08 mg/kg and supplemental vitamin E for turkey poults prevented poor growth and development of gizzard myopathy that occurred in poults fed the basal diet. Subsequent studies found that total dietary Se concentrations of 0.13–0.17 mg/kg were required to maximize plasma GPX3 activity (17). A recent study found that a dietary Se concentration of at least 0.05 mg/kg was needed to support normal growth of vitamin E–fed male poults. However, dietary Se concentrations of 0.25–0.35 mg/kg were required for maximal activities of GPX3 in plasma, GPX1 in pancreas and liver, and GPX4 in kidney and skeletal muscle (179). These results suggest that recommended dietary Se concentrations should be increased to 0.4 mg/kg for growing turkeys.

**6.2.4. Ruminants.** Estimates of the Se needs of ruminant species, while based on the best available data, are still not well defined. The recommendation for beef cattle, 0.1 mg/kg of dry matter intake (DMI), assumes adequate dietary vitamin E (112). Adjusting those data for projected DMI associated with differing rates of gain resulted in projected Se needs somewhat higher than those reported for dairy cattle (117). Results of Australian studies supported Se needs of 0.04 mg/kg of DMI (33). The recommendation for dairy cattle, 0.3 mg/kg of DMI, also assumes adequate dietary vitamin E (112, 117).

The Se recommendation for sheep, 0.1 mg/kg of DMI, was imputed from beef cattle data using a factorial approach and assuming utilization efficiencies of 30% for Se in forages and 60% for Se in concentrate-based diets, respectively. The factorial method is applied to calculate Se requirements by sheep and goats for maintenance, growth, pregnancy, lactation, and wool production on the basis of BW, BW gain, litter BW, milk yield, and clean fleece weight, respectively (122). After being adjusted to the predicted DMI level, these estimates are within the ranges of those for dairy and beef cattle. Results of Australian studies supported Se needs of 0.05 mg/kg of DMI (33).

**6.2.5. Fishes.** It is challenging to determine the dietary Se requirements of fish because there are a large number of species, different life stages, wide ranges of environmental conditions, and variations in harvest time and daily managements (16). Blood and tissue GPX activities and Se concentrations are often used as biomarkers to assess Se status and requirements of fish. Intriguingly, estimated dietary Se requirements of several types of fish and shrimp fall largely in the ranges (0.15 to 0.42 mg/kg) of those for food-producing mammals.

#### 6.3. Dietary Reference Intakes for Humans

Recommended dietary allowances (RDAs) for Se were not set until 1989; they were revised as dietary reference intakes (DRIs) in 2000 (72). These standards were based on Se intakes associated with maximal expression of a single selenoenzyme, GPX3, from only two small human studies. The first study involved Chinese adults with baseline Se intakes averaging 11  $\mu$ g/day. When supplemented with graded levels of selenite, they showed increases in GPX3 activity that plateaued at a total daily Se intake of 41  $\mu$ g (213). Adjustment for the mean BWs of Americans yielded an estimated Se requirement of 52  $\mu$ g/day. The second study involved adult New Zealanders with a baseline Se intake of 28  $\mu$ g/day (39). When supplemented with Se, as SeMet, those subjects responded to a 10- $\mu$ g daily dose of Se with increased GPX3 activity, suggesting a requirement of 38  $\mu$ g/day. The average of these estimates, 45  $\mu$ g/day, was taken as the estimated average requirement, and the RDA was set at 55  $\mu$ g/day for both men and women. RDAs for children were extrapolated from this value on the basis of BW. Those for infants, however, were based on projected Se intakes from breast milk (birth to 6 months: 15  $\mu$ g/day) and from breast milk plus complementary foods (6 months to 1 year: 20  $\mu$ g/day). Additional Se was recommended during pregnancy and lactation, bringing those RDAs to 60  $\mu$ g/day and 70  $\mu$ g/day, respectively.

In assessing available data, the World Health Organization (WHO) (204) established basal adult Se intake levels of 16 and 21  $\mu$ g/day as intake levels below which signs of Se deficiency might occur. Subsequently, the WHO based its recommendations on amounts of Se needed to support two-thirds of maximal plasma GPX3 activity according to the study of Yang et al. (213). That Se intake was imputed to be 26  $\mu$ g/day. Adjusting for BW and assumed interindividual variation, the WHO-recommended Se intakes for men and women were set at 40 and 30  $\mu$ g/day, respectively. Neither of these groups considered the bioavailability differences of selenite and the major form of Se in foods, SeMet. The latter is known to be more effective in supporting GPX3 activity by low-Se individuals (206).

A higher value was suggested by the results of a 40-week randomized intervention trial with Chinese subjects with baseline Se intakes averaging 14  $\mu$ g/day (207). When supplemented with graded doses of SeMet, plasma GPX3 activity increased to plateau levels with total intakes of 35  $\mu$ g/day, while maximization of plasma SELENOP concentration occurred with total intakes of 49  $\mu$ g/day. Using SELENOP optimization as the key parameter and adjusting for BW and individual variation, Xia et al. (207) proposed a daily Se need of 75  $\mu$ g through the dominant food form, SeMet, for Americans. In the United Kingdom, the recommendation for dietary Se intake, called reference nutrient intake, is 60  $\mu$ g/day for women and 75  $\mu$ g/day for men (72).

#### 7. ADVERSE EFFECTS AND TOXICITIES OF Se

#### 7.1. Metabolic Effects of High Se Intakes on Animals

Dietary Se concentrations up to 5 mg/kg impaired growth and, occasionally, survival of rats (102, 135) but had no effect on turkey poults (177). Mice have been found to tolerate Se in the form of selenate or selenite in their drinking water at levels of 2–3  $\mu$ g/L (142). Such high dietary concentrations do, however, increase the deposition of Se in the livers of various species (e.g., by 6- to

![](_page_23_Figure_0.jpeg)

#### Figure 5

Overview of regulatory pathways and mechanisms for the metabolic impacts of high dietary Se intakes (1 to 3 mg/kg of diet) in comparison with adequate or deficient Se intakes in pigs and rodents. Abbreviations: a, activity; DIO1, iodothyronine deiodinase 1; GPX1, 3, and 4, glutathione peroxidase 1, 3, and 4; MSRB1, methionine-R-sulfoxide reductase 1; SELENOH, P, and S, selenoprotein H, P, and S; TXNRD1, thioredoxin reductase 1. Figure adapted from Reference 24.

7-fold) (95, 127, 135, 177, 227, 230). In rats and chicks, this effect is greater for organic Se than for selenite (160, 202). High Se intakes typically do not affect the expression of selenoenzymes, most of which are maximized at nutritional intakes, that is, <0.5 mg/kg (165). In both rats and turkey poults, high dietary Se concentrations had no effects on hepatic levels of selenoprotein transcripts (135, 177). However, pigs fed a dietary Se level of 3 mg/kg showed elevated activities of GPX3 in plasma and GPX1 in liver, muscle, and thyroid compared with those fed 0.3 mg/kg (95, 230).

Excessive Se intakes seem to exert no global regulation of transcript expression across individual selenoprotein genes or tissues. Studies with pigs have shown that a dietary Se level of 3.0 mg/kg caused increases of *GPX3* expression in liver and muscle (95), decreases of *SELENOW* expression in liver (88, 95, 221), increases of *SELENOW* expression in muscle (88, 95), and no changes in *GPX1*, *SELENOP*, or *SELENOS* expression in these tissues (95, 227, 230). In comparison, rats fed a dietary Se level of 5 mg/kg showed a 20% decrease in growth rate and had altered expression of 4% of the transcriptome (1,193 liver transcripts), whereas rats fed a dietary level of  $\leq 2$  mg/kg had <10 altered transcripts (135). The overall impacts of high dietary Se intakes on biochemical responses and macronutrient metabolism in pigs and rodents are outlined in **Figure 5**.

RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) studies revealed only a small number of differentially expressed transcripts in turkeys fed dietary Se levels of 2 or 5 mg/kg, without transcripts showing a consistent pattern of expression altered or associated metabolic pathways or biological functions affected by excess Se. Gene set enrichment analyses revealed that excessive dietary Se intakes (2 to 5 mg Se/kg of diet) resulted in no consistently altered gene sets in turkeys (178) but 27 upregulated gene sets in rats fed 5 mg Se/kg of diet (162). Cross-species comparison of transcript expression in rats and

turkeys revealed no common gene sets consistently regulated by excess Se. The fact that a dietary Se level of 5 mg/kg dramatically increased liver differentially expressed transcripts and GSEA gene sets in rats, while a lower, supranutritional concentration (2 mg/kg) did not, suggests a level of subclinical toxicity associated with the higher level. The turkeys fed the same level of Se did not show increases in differentially expressed transcripts and thus seemed to tolerate that high level of Se exposure. Microarray and RNA-seq studies using multiple, high-level Se supplements found no specific transcripts, pathways, biological states, or processes that were directly linked with high Se status, suggesting accommodation to excessive Se beyond transcriptional regulation.

#### 7.2. Diabetogenic Risk of High Se Status in Humans

Recent animal experiments have shown unexpected risks of prolonged high Se intakes (0.4 to 3.0 mg/kg of diet) (95, 219, 227, 229) or overproduction of selenoproteins (103) in potentiating insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). The underlying mechanisms for these observations remain unclear, but they seem to involve elevated activity or production of selenoproteins including GPX1, MSRB1, SELENOS, and SELENOP; diminished intracellular ROS; dysregulated insulin synthesis, secretion, and signaling (193, 229); and dysregulated gluconeogenesis, lipogenesis, and protein synthesis (227, 228) (**Figure 5**).

However, the translational significance of these animal studies to humans is questionable (109). Observational studies have indicated associations of high plasma/serum Se and risk of T2DM and/or elevated fasting plasma glucose, though the associations are often nonlinear (190). Interestingly, deficient Se status has also been associated with risk of hypoglycemia (194). Using toenails as an indicator of Se status, the risk of T2DM was found to be lower across increasing quintiles of Se (128, 136). Clinical studies have not shown such effects; of six randomized controlled trials that evaluated the effects of Se supplementation on T2DM risk, only one trial found effects on unconfirmed T2DM (158). A larger trial, SELECT, which detected 1,782 cases in a cohort of >30,000 subjects, found no effect of supplemental Se on T2DM risk (92), nor did supplemental Se appear to affect pancreatic  $\beta$  cell function, insulin sensitivity, or glycemic indices (1, 76).

#### 7.3. Acute and Chronic Toxicities

Most reported cases of Se intoxication of animals involve cattle and sheep grazing in regions with Se-accumulating native plants. Such plants, which are prevalent on seleniferous soils of the northern Great Plains of the United States, are capable of synthesizing a variety of methylated selenides, selenoamino acids, and selenowaxes and accumulating Se at 20–100 mg/kg of dry matter (30). The high level of Se was found to cause neuropathies in horses and cattle (blind staggers, alkali disease) in the 1940s, and subsequent investigations have characterized selenosis in both its acute and chronic forms (30). Cattle and sheep have a learned postingestive feedback mechanism that helps them avoid the consumption of toxic plants (133); they both also appear to consume forages selectively to avoid excessive Se intakes (130).

Acute selenosis has occurred in humans due to accidental ingestion of gram quantities of Se in such high-Se solutions as gun bluing, sheep drench, and antidandruff shampoo (30, 72). Each case involved rapid development of severe gastrointestinal and neurological symptoms followed by acute respiratory failure, myocardial infarction, and renal failure.

Chronic selenosis has occurred in both animals and humans. In grazing animals, it is caused by dietary Se levels of 3–8 mg/kg of DMI (170). In humans, endemic selenosis was identified in the early 1960s in Enshi, Hubei Province, China, where residents consumed foods containing very high levels of Se (several hundred mg/kg) due to the use of local high-Se coal ash to amend agricultural soils (212). During the years of peak prevalence (1961–1964), the five most heavily affected villages experienced morbidity rates approaching 50%, and some individuals had blood Se levels as high as 3,200  $\mu$ g/L. The most common signs were hair and nail loss, and sometimes lesions of the skin, nervous system, and teeth. Dietary Se intakes, estimated a few years later, averaged ~5 mg/day, with individuals with Se intakes <1.5 mg/day showing no adverse effects. Acute Se doses of >30 mg/day in humans can cause diarrhea, hair loss, nail pathology, and nausea.

Intoxication due to apparent misformulation of Se supplements is a real concern. Acute Se toxicity occurred in 201 humans who took an over-the-counter supplement that was found to contain 200-fold of the dose stated on the label. This overdose resulted in Se intakes of 3 to 245 mg/day (median 42 mg/day) over a period averaging 29 days (99). Ingestion of another misformulated Se preparation that contained 27.3 mg/tablet (187-fold of the amount stated on the label) for up to 2.5 months resulted in similar symptoms (62). A group of 21 polo ponies experienced fatal pulmonary hemorrhages after administration of a veterinary supplement that contained a 1,000-fold excess of Se (35).

#### 7.4. Maximal Tolerable Se Levels

Guidelines for maximal amounts of dietary Se supplementations and maximal tolerable levels of Se across species have been established to prevent the adverse effects and toxicities of excessive Se intakes outlined above. Overall, data for these guidelines were of good quality for terrestrial animals but less so for aquatic species and only minimal for humans. However, mainly, the well-being and survival of different species were considered in setting up these maximal levels of Se. The potential impacts of these levels on the ecological sustainability and biosafety of Se accumulation in the food chain should not be neglected.

**7.4.1. Guidelines for Se supplementation in animal feeds.** In 2005, the NRC set the following maximum tolerable levels for Se in animal feeds (119): 5 mg/kg for cattle, sheep, horses, rats, and mice; 4 mg/kg for swine; 3 mg/kg for chickens, turkeys, and ducks; and 2 mg/kg for fishes. Since that time, additional data have supported new recommendations for beef cattle of 3–8 mg/kg of DMI (112). In many countries, the supplementation of Se in animal feeds is controlled. In the United States, selenite, selenate, Se-enriched yeast, and/or selenomethionine hydroxy analog can be added to complete feeds for chickens, turkeys, ducks, cattle (beef and dairy), sheep, and/or swine at levels that provide no more than 0.3 mg of Se/kg of diet (184). In the European Union, selenate or SeMet may be added to all livestock feeds in amounts that bring total dietary Se levels to no more than 0.5 mg of Se/kg of diet (41). In essence, both sets of guidelines are designed to limit feed Se levels to 0.5 mg/kg.

7.4.2. Guidelines of maximal intakes for humans. The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) set a no observed adverse effect level (NOAEL) for Se in whole blood at 1,000  $\mu$ g/L; this level was calculated to correspond to a dietary intake of 853  $\mu$ g/day in an adult male (115). The Institute of Medicine (72) set a tolerable upper Se intake level for adults at 400  $\mu$ g/day, that is, approximately half the NOAEL. The European Food Safety Authority set a tolerable upper Se level for adults at 300  $\mu$ g/day (147). Other national bodies adopted similar recommendations of 350–450  $\mu$ g/day for adults (71).

#### 8. INCREASING Se STATUS

#### 8.1. Providing Se to Animals

Many natural feed ingredients produced in the world do not contain adequate amounts of Se to meet the nutrient requirements by domestic species. Dietary Se supplementations of inorganic or organic forms, Se biofortifications of plant feeds, and direct Se injections in animals have been widely used in animal production after Se was approved as a feed additive. Notably, new forms of Se supplements, along with the intended amount, time, and route, require FDA approval. The most important considerations of different methods for providing Se to various species include efficacy, safety, and ecological impact of the supplements.

**8.1.1. Feed supplementation.** Addition of Se to feeds is a reliable means of increasing and assuring the Se status of animals. This is typically done by adding Se compounds to vitamin-mineral premixes used in formulated feeds. This practice has become routine in manufacturing most formulated diets, particularly those for chickens, pigs, horses, cats, dogs, fish, and laboratory animals.

Another approach is the use of free-choice mineral mixes containing Se. In most countries, the principal approach is the use of free-choice, salt-based supplements fortified with Se and other minerals (105). This approach can be confounded by nonuniform intakes of the free-choice supplements and by the presence of S, which can antagonize the utilization of Se (5).

Providing supranutritional Se in the diets of gestating cattle or sheep has little impact on growth (138) but increases blood and muscle Se concentrations (19, 174). In dairy cattle, the practice has been reported to increase milk production and colostrum quality (171), which may relate to increased mammary gland vascularity (191). Supranutritional dietary intakes of Se may enhance cow-calf nutrient transport capabilities, as treated cows showed increased vascularity of maternal intestinal tissues (155).

Se supplementation of maternal diets has resulted in responses of offspring in developmental programming involving epigenetic effects. Evidence of such effects includes increased growth and development of lambs produced by Se-supplemented ewes (138). The basis of such responses would appear to involve changes in early embryonic gene expression that affects metabolism. This hypothesis was supported by findings that, by gestational day 50, six genes associated with selenoproteins and glutathione metabolism were responsive to moderate changes in maternal Se supply (32).

**8.1.2.** Direct supplementation. Direct treatment has been found effective in providing Se to grazing ruminants. Injectable preparations containing Se can be used to avert effects of confounders. Studies have found this approach effective in raising liver Se contents in cattle and sheep that could persist for at least a month (52, 132). This approach is viewed as a particular utility for treating beef calves of deficient or marginal Se status at the time of weaning. Ruminal boluses or pellets designed to provide a sustained slow release of Se have been used in dairy cows and sheep. This approach has been effective in increasing blood Se levels in dairy cows over extended periods of time (75). Sprinkle et al. (156) found that the use of long-acting trace element boluses for cows grazing extensive rangeland decreased calving intervals and increased calf weaning weights.

**8.1.3. Indirect application.** Se-containing sprays have been used on forage crops to increase the Se intakes of grazing animals. Foliar application of sodium selenate providing 120–480 g of Se per hectare substantially increased the Se contents of Bermuda grass (186). Alfalfa hay produced on fields receiving spray applications of sodium selenate showed increases in Se content (57).

#### 8.2. Increasing Se in Food Systems for Humans

Sustainable increases in Se contents of foods can be accomplished using approaches that take advantage of and enhance the cycling of Se in the ecosystem. These approaches have been done in Se-deficient parts of Finland through the use of Se-containing fertilizers to increase the Se contents of feeds and foods for preventing veterinary morbidities (53) and improving the Se status of humans (44). Within a few years, the program effectively raised per capita Se intake from deficient (~25  $\mu$ g/day) to adequate (110 to 120  $\mu$ g/day) levels. That rise resulted in a marked increase in adult serum Se concentrations from an average of ~70 to ~119 ng/ml (44).

#### 8.3. Biofortification of Animal-Sourced Foods with Se

As elaborated above, cattle grazing forages in areas of elevated Se concentrations produce Seenriched beef (64). Taylor et al. (175) reported that Se-enriched beef was as acceptable to consumers as control beef. In fact, eggs, meat (chicken, turkey, pork, beef, and lamb), and milk are readily enriched with Se by feeding animals high dietary concentrations of Se. Se contents could be enhanced to  $30-35 \ \mu g/egg$  and  $20-45 \ \mu g$  per 100 g of fresh meat (50, 108). The enrichments enable ingestion of one egg or 100 g of meat to meet approximately 40–60% of the DRI of Se. There are large variations in the reported concentrations of Se in the milk of cows and goats (2 to 50  $\ \mu g/L$ ) and their responses to dietary Se supplementations (3). Elevating dietary Se intakes of these species resulted in increases in Se contents linearly in the goat milk but nonlinearly in the cow milk (27).

Supplemental organic Se, including SeMet, Se-enriched yeast, and seleno-hydroxymethionine, is more effective than inorganic Se in enriching Se in eggs, meats, and milk (**Figure 2***c*). The chemical form of Se also affects the Se deposition destination: The inorganic Se is deposited predominantly in the yolk, whereas SeMet and Se-enriched yeast are transferred mainly to the albumen (125). The Se enrichments do not seem to alter the physical or sensory properties of eggs, meats, and milk but do improve their oxidative resilience and shelf life (50, 108).

The bioavailability of Se in various meats, based on rodent liver GPX activity and other responses (151, 201), was similar to that of selenite or SeMet. Long-term benefits of these Seenriched animal foods to humans need intervention verifications. Interestingly, the Se-enriched porcine serum (5.4–6.2  $\mu$ mol/L) exerted a strong growth inhibition on several types of human cancer cells (160). It is unlikely that consuming Se-enriched animal foods at typical intakes will exceed the safe or maximal tolerable levels for humans enough to cause chronic toxicity concern. However, a recent study indicated that the total target hazard quotient for Se, Pb, Cd, As, Hg, and Cr contamination in Se-enriched eggs might predispose children aged 2–9 years to noncarcinogenic health risks (226).

#### 9. CONCLUDING REMARKS

Among all the essential micronutrients, Se is perhaps the most unique because of its multiphased roles in nutrition and health, the identifications of selenogenome and selenoproteome sets, and the narrowest gap (with the possible exception of iodine) between the amounts required to prevent clinical signs of deficiency and those leading to adverse effects or toxicities. However, specific and collective functions of many selenoproteins, along with their regulation by dietary Se and their contribution to the pathogeneses of the Se-deficiency diseases, remain unclear. Many of the dietary Se recommendations currently used in animal and human nutrition need to be revised with clearly defined metabolic goals and fully validated biomarkers supported by advances in Se biology. Although current biomarkers for assessing Se deficiency status are largely usable, future research is needed to identify correspondingly good biomarkers for high Se status. Those novel tools would help to better characterize safe levels of dietary Se intakes. While several forms of inorganic (selenite and selenite) and organic (SeMet and Se-enriched yeast) Se are widely used in food fortification and feed manufacture, there is a continued interest in searching for new forms and sources of Se to improve the efficacy and safety of Se supplementation and to prevent environmental contamination of Se. As global Se deposits on Earth are rather limited and unevenly

distributed, the recycling of Se in food and ecological systems should be optimized for an efficient and sustainable supply of Se to meet the dietary requirements of humans and various species of animals.

#### **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT**

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Professor Margaret Rayman, University of Surrey, Guildford, United Kingdom, for her input on the adverse effects of high Se in humans.

#### LITERATURE CITED

- 1. Algotar AM, Hsu CH, Singh P, Stratton SP. 2013. Selenium supplementation has no effect on serum glucose levels in men at high risk of prostate cancer. *J. Diabetes* 5:465–70
- 2. Anan Y, Ohbo A, Tani Y, Ogra Y. 2014. Metabolic pathway of inorganic and organic selenocompounds labeled with stable isotope in Japanese quail. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 406:7959–66
- Arshad M, Ebeid H, Hassan F-U. 2021. Revisiting the effects of different dietary sources of selenium on the health and performance of dairy animals: a review. *Biol. Trace Elem. Res.* 199:3319–37
- Arsova-Sarafinovska Z, Matevska N, Petrovski D, Banev S, Dzikova S, et al. 2008. Manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) genetic polymorphism is associated with risk of early-onset prostate cancer. *Cell Biochem. Funct.* 26:771–77
- Arthington JD. 2015. New concepts in trace mineral supplementation of grazing cattle hydroxy sources, injectable sources and pasture application. In *Proceedings of the 26th Annual Florida Ruminant Nutrition Symposium*, pp. 104–18. Gainesville, FL: Univ. Florida
- Bansal MP, Cook RG, Danielson KG, Medina D. 1989. A 14-kilodalton selenium-binding protein in mouse liver is fatty acid-binding protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 264:13780–84
- Barnes KM, Evenson JK, Raines AM, Sunde RA. 2009. Transcript analysis of the selenoproteome indicates that dietary selenium requirements of rats based on selenium-regulated selenoprotein mRNA levels are uniformly less than those based on glutathione peroxidase activity. *J. Nutr.* 139:199–206
- 8. Beck MA. 2007. Selenium and vitamin E status: impact on viral pathogenicity. J. Nutr. 137:1338-40
- Beck MA, Levander OA. 1998. Dietary oxidative stress and the potentiation of viral infection. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 18:93–116
- Beilstein MA, Whanger PD. 1986. Deposition of dietary organic and inorganic selenium in rat erythrocyte proteins. J. Nutr. 116:1701–10
- Berry MJ, Banu L, Larsen PR. 1991. Type I iodothyronine deiodinase is a selenocysteine-containing enzyme. *Nature* 349:438–40
- Blot WJ, Li JY, Taylor PR, Guo W, Dawsey S, et al. 1993. Nutrition intervention trials in Linxian, China: supplementation with specific vitamin/mineral combinations, cancer incidence, and diseasespecific mortality in the general population. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 85:1483–92
- Boldrin PF, de Figueiredo MA, Yang Y, Luo H, Giri S, et al. 2016. Selenium promotes sulfur accumulation and plant growth in wheat (*Triticum aestivum*). *Physiol. Plant.* 158:80–91
- Bowen ZH, Aldridge CL, Anderson PJ, Assal TJ, Biewick L, et al. 2011. U.S. Geological Survey Science for the Wyoming Landscape Conservation Initiative—2010 Annual Report. Rep. 2011–1219, US Geol. Surv., Reston, VA
- Burk RF, Levander OA. 2005. Selenium. In Modern Nutrition in Health and Disease, pp. 312–25. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins
- Burk RF, Norsworthy BK, Hill KE, Motley AK, Byrne DW. 2006. Effects of chemical form of selenium on plasma biomarkers in a high-dose human supplementation trial. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev.* 15:804–10

- Cantor AH, Tarino JZ. 1982. Comparative effects of inorganic and organic dietary sources of selenium on selenium levels and selenium-dependent glutathione peroxidase activity in blood of young turkeys. *J. Nutr.* 112:2187–96
- Carr S, Jia Y, Crites B, Hamilton C, Burris WR, et al. 2020. Form of supplemental selenium in vitaminmineral premixes differentially affects early luteal and gestational concentrations of progesterone, and postpartum concentrations of prolactin in beef cows. *Animals* 10(6):967
- Caton JS. 2009. Significance of elevated selenium in muscle tissue: functional food and nutrient reserve? In Selenium Deficiency, Toxicity, and Biofortification for Human Health, pp. 57–58. Hefei, China: University of Science and Technology of China Press
- Cerny KL, Anderson L, Burris WR, Rhoads M, Matthews JC, Bridges PJ. 2016. Form of supplemental selenium fed to cycling cows affects systemic concentrations of progesterone but not those of estradiol. *Theriogenology* 85:800–6
- Chen LL, Huang JQ, Wu YY, Chen LB, Li SP, et al. 2021. Loss of Selenov predisposes mice to extra fat accumulation and attenuated energy expenditure. *Redox. Biol.* 45:102048
- Chen LL, Huang JQ, Xiao Y, Wu YY, Ren FZ, Lei XG. 2020. Knockout of selenoprotein V affects regulation of selenoprotein expression by dietary selenium and fat intakes in mice. *J. Nutr.* 150:483–91
- Chen X, Yang G, Chen J, Chen X, Wen Z, Ge K. 1980. Studies on the relations of selenium and Keshan disease. *Biol. Trace Elem. Res.* 2:91–107
- Chen XD, Zhao ZP, Zhou JC, Lei XG. 2018. Evolution, regulation, and function of porcine selenogenome. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 127:116–23
- Chin. Med. Assoc. 1979. Observations on effect of sodium selenite in prevention of Keshan disease. *Chin. Med.* <u>7</u>. 92:471–76
- Clark LC, Combs GF Jr., Turnbull BW, Slate EH, Chalker DK, et al. 1996. Effects of selenium supplementation for cancer prevention in patients with carcinoma of the skin. A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 276:1957–63
- Cobo-Angel C, Wichtel J, Ceballos-Márquez A. 2014. Selenium in milk and human health. Anim. Front. 4:38–43
- 28. Combs GF Jr. 2001. Selenium in global food systems. Br. J. Nutr. 85:517-47
- 29. Combs GF Jr. 2015. Biomarkers of selenium status. Nutrients 7:2209-36
- 30. Combs GF Jr., Combs SB. 1986. The Role of Selenium in Nutrition. New York: Academic
- Combs GJ Jr., Lü J. 2006. Selenium as a cancer preventive agent. In Selenium: Its Molecular Biology and Role in Human Health, ed. DL Hatfield, U Schweizer, PA Tsuji, VN Gladyshev, pp. 249–64. Boston, MA: Springer Science Business Media
- 32. Crouse MS, Caton JS, Cushman RA, McLean KJ, Dahlen CR, et al. 2019. Moderate nutrient restriction of beef heifers alters expression of genes associated with tissue metabolism, accretion, and function in fetal liver, muscle, and cerebrum by day 50 of gestation. *Transl. Anim. Sci.* 3:855–66
- CSIRO. 2007. Nutrient Requirements of Domesticated Ruminants. Collingwood, Australia: CSIRO Publishing
- Dennert G, Zwahlen M, Brinkman M, Vinceti M, Zeegers MP, Horneber M. 2011. Selenium for preventing cancer. Cochrane Database Syst. Rev. 2014(3):Cd005195
- Desta B, Maldonado G, Reid H, Puschner B, Maxwell J, et al. 2011. Acute selenium toxicosis in polo ponies. J. Vet. Diagn. Investig. 23:623–28
- Dhillon KS, Dhillon SK. 2009. Selenium concentrations of common weeds and agricultural crops grown in the seleniferous soils of northwestern India. *Sci. Total Environ.* 407:6150–56
- Diwadkar-Navsariwala V, Prins GS, Swanson SM, Birch LA, Ray VH, et al. 2006. Selenoprotein deficiency accelerates prostate carcinogenesis in a transgenic model. PNAS 103:8179
- Duffield-Lillico AJ, Reid ME, Turnbull BW, Combs GF Jr., Slate EH, et al. 2002. Baseline characteristics and the effect of selenium supplementation on cancer incidence in a randomized clinical trial: a summary report of the Nutritional Prevention of Cancer Trial. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev.* 11:630–39
- Duffield AJ, Thomson CD, Hill KE, Williams S. 1999. An estimation of selenium requirements for New Zealanders. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 70:896–903
- Eckhert CD, Lockwood MK, Shen B. 1993. Influence of selenium on the microvasculature of the retina. Microvasc. Res. 45:74–82

- EFSA Panel Addit. Prod. Subst. Anim. Feed. 2013. Scientific opinion on the safety and efficacy of L-selenomethionine as feed additive for all animal species. EFSA J. 11:3219
- Elhodaky M, Diamond AM. 2018. Selenium-binding protein 1 in human health and disease. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 19(11):3437
- Elrashidi MA, Adriano DC, Workman SM, Lindsay WL. 1987. Chemical equilibria of selenium in soils: a theoretical development. *Soil Sci.* 144:141–52
- 44. Eurola M, ed. 2005. Proceedings: twenty years of selenium fertilization, September 8–9, 2005, Helsinki, Finland. Agrifood Res. Rep. 69, MTT Agrifood Research, Helsinki, Finland
- Evenson JK, Sunde RA. 1988. Selenium incorporation into selenoproteins in the Se-adequate and Se-deficient rat. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 187:169–80
- Evenson JK, Sunde RA. 2021. Metabolism of tracer (75)Se selenium from inorganic and organic selenocompounds into selenoproteins in rats, and the missing (75)Se metabolites. *Front. Nutr.* 8:699652
- Falk M, Bernhoft A, Reinoso-Maset E, Salbu B, Lebed P, et al. 2020. Beneficial antioxidant status of piglets from sows fed selenomethionine compared with piglets from sows fed sodium selenite. *J. Trace Elem. Med. Biol.* 58:126439
- Fan Y, Gao D, Zhang Y, Zhu J, Zhang F, et al. 2021. Genome-wide differentially methylated region analysis to reveal epigenetic differences of articular cartilage in Kashin-Beck disease and osteoarthritis. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 9:636291
- Ferguson-Kohout N, Sunde RA. 1997. Dietary selenium regulation of glutathione peroxidase (GPX1) and phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase (GPX4) in mice. *EASEB J*. 11:A359
- Fisinin VI, Papazyan TT, Surai PF. 2009. Producing selenium-enriched eggs and meat to improve the selenium status of the general population. *Crit. Rev. Biotechnol.* 29:18–28
- Ge K, Xue A, Bai J, Wang S. 1983. Keshan disease—an endemic cardiomyopathy in China. Virchows Arch. A Pathol. Anat. Histopathol. 401:1–15
- Genther ON, Hansen SL. 2014. A multielement trace mineral injection improves liver copper and selenium concentrations and manganese superoxide dismutase activity in beef steers. *J. Anim. Sci.* 92:695– 704
- Gissel-Nielsen G. 1998. Effects of selenium supplementation of field crops. In *Environmental Chemistry* of *Selenium*, pp. 99–112. New York: Dekker
- 54. Gladyshev VN, Arnér ES, Berry MJ, Brigelius-Flohé R, Bruford EA, et al. 2016. Selenoprotein gene nomenclature. *J. Biol. Chem.* 291:24036–40
- 55. González-Iglesias H, Fernández-Sánchez ML, Lu Y, Fernández Menéndez S, Pergantis SA, Sanz-Medel A. 2015. Elemental and molecular mass spectrometry for integrated selenosugar speciation in liver and kidney tissues of maternal feeding and supplemented rats. *J. Anal. At. Spectrom.* 30:267–76
- 56. Gries CL, Scott ML. 1972. Pathology of selenium deficiency in the chick. J. Nutr. 102:1287-96
- Hall JA, Bobe G, Hunter JK, Vorachek WR, Stewart WC, et al. 2013. Effect of feeding seleniumfertilized alfalfa hay on performance of weaned beef calves. *PLOS ONE* 8:e58188
- Hariharan S, Dharmaraj S. 2020. Selenium and selenoproteins: it's role in regulation of inflammation. Inflammopharmacology 28:667–95
- Hartikainen H, Xue T, Piironen V. 2000. Selenium as an anti-oxidant and pro-oxidant in ryegrass. *Plant Soil* 225:193–200
- Hatfield D, Gladyshev VN. 2009. The outcome of Selenium and Vitamin E Cancer Prevention Trial (SELECT) reveals the need for better understanding of selenium biology. *Mol. Interventions* 9(1):18–21
- Hawkes WC, Alkan Z, Wong K. 2009. Selenium supplementation does not affect testicular selenium status or semen quality in North American men. *J. Androl.* 30(5):525–33
- Helzlsouer K, Jacobs R, Morris S. 1985. Acute selenium intoxication in the United-States. Fed. Proc. 44:1670
- 63. Hill KE, Zhou J, Austin LM, Motley AK, Ham AJ, et al. 2007. The selenium-rich C-terminal domain of mouse selenoprotein P is necessary for the supply of selenium to brain and testis but not for the maintenance of whole body selenium. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282:10972–80
- Hintze KJ, Lardy GP, Marchello MJ, Finley JW. 2001. Areas with high concentrations of selenium in the soil and forage produce beef with enhanced concentrations of selenium. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 49:1062– 67

- Hintze KJ, Lardy GP, Marchello MJ, Finley JW. 2002. Selenium accumulation in beef: effect of dietary selenium and geographical area of animal origin. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 50:3938–42
- Hu Y, Benya RV, Carroll RE, Diamond AM. 2005. Allelic loss of the gene for the GPX1 seleniumcontaining protein is a common event in cancer. J. Nutr. 135:3021S–24S
- Huang J-Q, Li D-L, Zhao H, Sun L, Xia X, et al. 2011. The selenium deficiency disease exudative diathesis in chicks is associated with downregulation of seven common selenoprotein genes in liver and muscle. *J. Nutr.* 141(9):1605–10
- Huang J-Q, Wang Y-Y, Wang Q-Y, Xiao C, Ren F-Z, Lei XG. 2016. Digital gene expression (DGE) analysis of nutritional pancreatic atrophy of chicks induced by the Se/vitamin E deficiencies. *FASEB 3*. 30(S1):1170.1
- Huang JQ, Ren FZ, Jiang YY, Xiao C, Lei XG. 2015. Selenoproteins protect against avian nutritional muscular dystrophy by metabolizing peroxides and regulating redox/apoptotic signaling. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 83:129–38
- Huang JQ, Zhou JC, Wu YY, Ren FZ, Lei XG. 2018. Role of glutathione peroxidase 1 in glucose and lipid metabolism-related diseases. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 127:108–15
- Hurst R, Collings R, Harvey LJ, King M, Hooper L, et al. 2013. EURRECA—estimating selenium requirements for deriving dietary reference values. Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr. 53:1077–96
- 72. Inst. Med. 2000. Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin C, Vitamin E, Selenium, and Carotenoids. Washington, DC: National Academies Press
- Ivancic J Jr., Weiss WP. 2001. Effect of dietary sulfur and selenium concentrations on selenium balance of lactating Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 84:225–32
- Jackson MI, Combs GF. 2008. Selenium and anticarcinogenesis: underlying mechanisms. Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care 11:718–26
- 75. Jackson T, Carmichael-Wyatt R, Deters E, Messersmith E, VanValin K, et al. 2020. Comparison of multiple single-use, pulse-dose trace mineral products provided as injectable, oral drench, oral paste, or bolus on circulating and liver trace mineral concentrations of beef steers. *Appl. Anim. Sci.* 36:26–35
- Jacobs ET, Lance P, Mandarino LJ, Ellis NA, Chow HS, et al. 2019. Selenium supplementation and insulin resistance in a randomized, clinical trial. *BMJ Open Diabetes Res. Care* 7:e000613
- Janghorbani M, Rockway S, Mooers CS, Roberts EM, Ting BT, Sitrin MD. 1990. Effect of chronic selenite supplementation on selenium excretion and organ accumulation in rats. *J. Nutr.* 120:274–79
- Jensen LS, Colnago GL, Takahashi K, Akiba Y. 1986. Dietary selenium status and plasma thyroid hormones in chicks. *Biol. Trace Elem. Res.* 10:11–18
- 79. Jia J. 2007. Effect of different source selenium on piglets of sows tissue selenium deposition and blood biochemical parameters. MSc Thesis, Sichuan Agriculture University, Ya'an, Sichuan, China
- Katarzyna B, Taylor RM, Szpunar J, Lobinski R, Sunde RA. 2020. Identification and determination of selenocysteine, selenosugar, and other selenometabolites in turkey liver. *Metallomics* 12:758–66
- Kobayashi Y, Ogra Y, Ishiwata K, Takayama H, Aimi N, Suzuki KT. 2002. Selenosugars are key and urinary metabolites for selenium excretion within the required to low-toxic range. *PNAS* 99:15932– 36
- Kryukov GV, Castellano S, Novoselov SV, Lobanov AV, Zehtab O, et al. 2003. Characterization of mammalian selenoproteomes. *Science* 300:1439–43
- Labunskyy VM, Hatfield DL, Gladyshev VN. 2014. Selenoproteins: molecular pathways and physiological roles. *Physiol. Rev.* 94:739–77
- Lee J, Finley JW, Harnly J. 2005. Effect of selenium fertilizer on free amino acid composition of broccoli (*Brassica oleracea* cv. Majestic) determined by gas chromatography with flame ionization and mass selective detection. *J. Agricult. Food Chem.* 53(23):9105–11
- Lei XG, Dann HM, Ross DA, Cheng WH, Combs GF, Roneker KR. 1998. Dietary selenium supplementation is required to support full expression of three selenium-dependent glutathione peroxidases in various tissues of weanling pigs. *J. Nutr*: 128:130–35
- Lei XG, Evenson JK, Thompson KM, Sunde RA. 1995. Glutathione peroxidase and phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase are differentially regulated in rats by dietary selenium. *J. Nutr.* 125:1438–46

- Li H-F, McGrath SP, Zhao F-J. 2008. Selenium uptake, translocation and speciation in wheat supplied with selenate or selenite. *New Phytologist* 178(1):92–102
- Li JG, Zhou JC, Zhao H, Lei XG, Xia XJ, et al. 2011. Enhanced water-holding capacity of meat was associated with increased *Sepw1* gene expression in pigs fed selenium-enriched yeast. *Meat Sci.* 87:95– 100
- Li JL, Sunde RA. 2016. Selenoprotein transcript level and enzyme activity as biomarkers for selenium status and selenium requirements of chickens (*Gallus gallus*). PLOS ONE 11:e0152392
- Li S, Gao F, Huang J, Wu Y, Wu S, Lei XG. 2018. Regulation and function of avian selenogenome. Biochim. Biophys. Acta Gen. Subj. 1862:2473–79
- Liang Y, Lin S-L, Wang C-W, Yao H-D, Zhang Z-W, Xu S-W. 2014. Effect of selenium on selenoprotein expression in the adipose tissue of chickens. *Biol. Trace Elem. Res.* 160:41–48
- Lippman SM, Klein EA, Goodman PJ, Lucia MS, Thompson IM, et al. 2009. Effect of selenium and vitamin E on risk of prostate cancer and other cancers: the Selenium and Vitamin E Cancer Prevention Trial (SELECT). *JAMA* 301:39–51
- Liu T, Yang T, Pan T, Liu C, Li S. 2018. Effect of low-selenium/high-fat diet on pig peripheral blood lymphocytes: perspectives from selenoproteins, heat shock proteins, and cytokines. *Biol. Trace Elem. Res.* 183:102–13
- 94. Liu X, He S, Peng J, Guo X, Tan W. 2019. Expression profile analysis of selenium-related genes in peripheral blood mononuclear cells of patients with Keshan disease. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2019:4352905
- Liu Y, Zhao H, Zhang Q, Tang J, Li K, et al. 2012. Prolonged dietary selenium deficiency or excess does not globally affect selenoprotein gene expression and/or protein production in various tissues of pigs. *J. Nutr.* 142:1410–16
- Long J, Liu Y, Zhou X, He L. 2020. Dietary serine supplementation regulates selenoprotein transcription and selenoenzyme activity in pigs. *Biol. Trace Elem. Res.* 199:148–53
- 97. Lu Y, Pergantis SA. 2009. Selenosugar determination in porcine liver using multidimensional HPLC with atomic and molecular mass spectrometry. *Metallomics* 1:346–52
- 98. Lu Z, Wang P, Teng T, Shi B, Shan A, Lei XG. 2019. Effects of dietary selenium deficiency or excess on selenoprotein gene expression in the spleen tissue of pigs. *Animals* 9:1122
- 99. MacFarquhar JK, Broussard DL, Melstrom P, Hutchinson R, Wolkin A, et al. 2010. Acute selenium toxicity associated with a dietary supplement. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 170:256–61
- Mariotti M, Ridge PG, Zhang Y, Lobanov AV, Pringle TH, et al. 2012. Composition and evolution of the vertebrate and mammalian selenoproteomes. *PLOS ONE* 7:e33066
- Mariotti M, Santesmasses D, Capella-Gutierrez S, Mateo A, Arnan C, et al. 2015. Evolution of selenophosphate synthetases: emergence and relocation of function through independent duplications and recurrent subfunctionalization. *Genome Res.* 25:1256–67
- 102. McAdam PA, Levander OA. 1987. Chronic toxicity and retention of dietary selenium fed to rats as D- or L-selenomethionine, selenite, or selenate. *Nutr: Res.* 7:601–10
- McClung JP, Roneker CA, Mu W, Lisk DJ, Langlais P, et al. 2004. Development of insulin resistance and obesity in mice overexpressing cellular glutathione peroxidase. *PNAS* 101:8852–57
- McConnell KP, Hoffman JL. 1972. Methionine-selenomethionine parallels in rat liver polypeptide chain synthesis. FEBS Lett. 24:60–62
- 105. McDowell LR. 1996. Feeding minerals to cattle on pasture. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 60:247-71
- 106. Mehdi Y, Dufrasne I. 2016. Selenium in cattle: a review. Molecules 21(4):545
- 107. Mehdi Y, Hornick JL, Istasse L, Dufrasne I. 2013. Selenium in the environment, metabolism and involvement in body functions. *Molecules* 18:3292–311
- Michalczuk M, Batorska M, Sikorska U, Bień D, Urban J, et al. 2021. Selenium and the health status, production results, and product quality in poultry. *Anim. Sci. J.* 92:e13662
- Misu H, Takamura T, Takayama H, Hayashi H, Matsuzawa-Nagata N, et al. 2010. A liver-derived secretory protein, selenoprotein P, causes insulin resistance. *Cell Metab.* 12:483–95
- Morrison DG, Dishart MK, Medina D. 1988. Intracellular 58-kd selenoprotein levels correlate with inhibition of DNA synthesis in mammary epithelial cells. *Carcinogenesis* 9:1801–10
- Murawaki Y, Tsuchiya H, Kanbe T, Harada K, Yashima K, et al. 2008. Aberrant expression of selenoproteins in the progression of colorectal cancer. *Cancer Lett.* 259:218–30

- Natl. Acad. Sci. Eng. Med. 2016. Nutrient Requirements of Beef Cattle: Eighth Revised Edition. Washington, DC: National Academies Press
- 113. Natl. Res. Council. 1982. Nutrient Requirements of Mink and Foxes: Second Revised Edition. Washington, DC: National Academies Press
- 114. Natl. Res. Counc. 1983. Selenium in Nutrition: Revised Edition. Washington, DC: National Academies Press
- 115. Natl. Res. Counc. 1994. Nutrient Requirements of Poultry: Ninth Revised Edition. Washington, DC: National Academies Press
- Natl. Res. Counc. 1995. Nutrient Requirements of Laboratory Animals: Fourth Revised Edition. Washington, DC: National Academies Press
- 117. Natl. Res. Counc. 2001. Nutrient Requirements of Dairy Cattle: Seventh Revised Edition. Washington, DC: National Academies Press
- 118. Natl. Res. Council. 2003. Nutrient Requirements of Nonhuman Primates: Second Revised Edition. Washington, DC: National Academies Press
- 119. Natl. Res. Counc. 2005. *Mineral Tolerance of Animals: Second Revised Edition*. Washington, DC: National Academies Press
- Natl. Res. Council. 2006. Nutrient Requirements of Dogs and Cats. Washington, DC: National Academies Press
- 121. Natl. Res. Council. 2007. Nutrient Requirements of Horses: Sixth Revised Edition. Washington, DC: National Academies Press
- Natl. Res. Counc. 2007. Nutrient Requirements of Small Ruminants: Sheep, Goats, Cervids, and New World Camelids. Washington, DC: National Academies Press
- Natl. Res. Council. 2011. Nutrient Requirements of Fish and Shrimp. Washington, DC: National Academies Press
- 124. Natl. Res. Council. 2012. Nutrient Requirements of Swine: Eleventh Revised Edition. Washington, DC: National Academies Press
- Nys Y, Schlegel P, Durosoy S, Jondreville C, Narcy A. 2018. Adapting trace mineral nutrition of birds for optimising the environment and poultry product quality. *World's Poultry Sci.* 7. 74:225–38
- Omaye ST, Tappel AL. 1974. Effect of dietary selenium on glutathione peroxidase in the chick. J. Nutr. 104:747–53
- Ort JF, Latshaw JD. 1978. The toxic level of sodium selenite in the diet of laying chickens. J. Nutr. 108:1114–20
- Park K, Rimm EB, Siscovick DS, Spiegelman D, Manson JE, et al. 2012. Toenail selenium and incidence of type 2 diabetes in U.S. men and women. *Diabetes Care* 35:1544–51
- Patterson BH, Levander OA, Helzlsouer K, McAdam PA, Lewis SA, et al. 1989. Human selenite metabolism: a kinetic model. Am. J. Physiol. 257:R556–67
- Pfister JA, Davis TZ, Hall JO. 2013. Effect of selenium concentration on feed preferences by cattle and sheep. J. Anim. Sci. 91:5970–80
- 131. Pilon-Smits E, Quinn C. 2010. Selenium metabolism in plants. 17:225-41
- Pogge DJ, Richter EL, Drewnoski ME, Hansen SL. 2012. Mineral concentrations of plasma and liver after injection with a trace mineral complex differ among Angus and Simmental cattle. *J. Anim. Sci.* 90:2692–98
- Provenza FD. 1995. Postingestive feedback as an elementary determinant of food preference and intake in ruminants. *J. Range Manag.* 48:2–17
- Pumford NR, Martin BM, Hinson JA. 1992. A metabolite of acetaminophen covalently binds to the 56 kDa selenium binding protein. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 182:1348–55
- 135. Raines AM, Sunde RA. 2011. Selenium toxicity but not deficient or super-nutritional selenium status vastly alters the transcriptome in rodents. *BMC Genom.* 12:26
- Rajpathak S, Rimm E, Morris JS, Hu F. 2005. Toenail selenium and cardiovascular disease in men with diabetes. J. Am. Coll. Nutr: 24:250–56
- Ratnasinghe D, Tangrea JA, Andersen MR, Barrett MJ, Virtamo J, et al. 2000. Glutathione peroxidase codon 198 polymorphism variant increases lung cancer risk. *Cancer Res.* 60:6381–83

- Reed JJ, Ward MA, Vonnahme KA, Neville TL, Julius SL, et al. 2007. Effects of selenium supply and dietary restriction on maternal and fetal body weight, visceral organ mass and cellularity estimates, and jejunal vascularity in pregnant ewe lambs. *J. Anim. Sci.* 85:2721–33
- Rotruck JT, Pope AL, Ganther HE, Swanson AB, Hafeman DG, Hoekstra WG. 1973. Selenium: biochemical role as a component of glutathione peroxidase. *Science* 179:588–90
- Santesmasses D, Mariotti M, Gladyshev VN. 2020. Tolerance to selenoprotein loss differs between human and mouse. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 37:341–54
- 141. Sayehmiri K, Azami M, Mohammadi Y, Soleymani A, Tardeh Z. 2018. The association between selenium and prostate cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Asian Pac. J. Cancer Prev.* 19:1431–37
- Schroeder HA. 1967. Effects of selenate, selenite and tellurite on the growth and early survival of mice and rats. *J. Nutr.* 92:334–38
- 143. Schubert A, Holden JM, Wolf WR. 1987. Selenium content of a core group of foods based on a critical evaluation of published analytical data. *J. Am. Diet. Assoc.* 87:285–99
- Schwarz K, Bieri JG, Briggs GM, Scott ML. 1957. Prevention of exudative diathesis in chicks by factor 3 and selenium. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 95:621–25
- Schwarz K, Foltz CM. 1957. Selenium as an integral part of factor 3 against dietary necrotic liver degeneration. *7. Am. Chem. Soc.* 79:3292–93
- Schweizer U, Fradejas-Villar N. 2016. Why 21? The significance of selenoproteins for human health revealed by inborn errors of metabolism. *EASEB J.* 30:3669–81
- 147. Sci. Comm. Food. 2006. Tolerable upper intake levels for vitamins and minerals. Rep., Eur. Food Saf. Auth., Parma, Italy
- Scott ML, Olson G, Krook L, Brown WR. 1967. Selenium-responsive myopathies of myocardium of smooth muscle in the young poult. J. Nutr. 91:573–83
- 149. Séboussi R, Tremblay GF, Ouellet V, Chouinard PY, Chorfi Y, et al. 2016. Selenium-fertilized forage as a way to supplement lactating dairy cows. *J. Dairy Sci.* 99:5358–69
- Shamberger RJ, Frost DV. 1969. Possible protective effect of selenium against human cancer. Can. Med. Assoc. J. 100:682
- Shi B, Spallholz JE. 1994. Bioavailability of selenium from raw and cooked ground beef assessed in selenium-deficient Fischer rats. J. Am. Coll. Nutr. 13(1):95–101
- 152. Singh M, Singh N, Bhandari DK. 1980. Interaction of selenium and sulfur on the growth and chemical composition of raya. *Soil Sci.* 129:238–44
- Smith AM, Picciano MF. 1986. Evidence for increased selenium requirement for the rat during pregnancy and lactation. J. Nutr. 116:1068–79
- Sordillo LM. 2013. Selenium-dependent regulation of oxidative stress and immunity in periparturient dairy cattle. Vet. Med. Int. 2013:154045
- 155. Soto-Navarro SA, Lawler TL, Taylor JB, Reynolds LP, Reed JJ, et al. 2004. Effect of high-selenium wheat on visceral organ mass, and intestinal cellularity and vascularity in finishing beef steers. *J. Anim. Sci.* 82:1788–93
- 156. Sprinkle JE, Schafer DW, Cuneo SP, Tolleson DR, Enns RM. 2020. Effects of a long-acting trace mineral rumen bolus upon range cow productivity. *Trans. Anim. Sci.* 5:txaa232
- 157. Stowe H, Pagan J. 1998. Selenium supplementation for horse feed. Adv. Equine Nutr. 1:97-103
- Stranges S, Marshall JR, Natarajan R, Donahue RP, Trevisan M, et al. 2007. Effects of long-term selenium supplementation on the incidence of type 2 diabetes: a randomized trial. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 147:217– 23
- 159. Sun LH, Huang JQ, Deng J, Lei XG. 2019. Avian selenogenome: response to dietary Se and vitamin E deficiency and supplementation. *Poult. Sci.* 98:4247–54
- Sun LH, Li JG, Zhao H, Shi J, Huang JQ, et al. 2013. Porcine serum can be biofortified with selenium to inhibit proliferation of three types of human cancer cells. J. Nutr. 143:1115–22
- Sun Y, Gao C, Wang X, Yuan Y, Liu Y, Jia J. 2017. Serum quantitative proteomic analysis of patients with keshan disease based on iTRAQ labeling technique: a first term study. *J. Trace Elem. Med. Biol.* 44:331– 38
- Sunde RA. 2021. Gene set enrichment analysis of selenium-deficient and high-selenium rat liver transcript expression and comparison with turkey liver expression. J. Nutr. 151:772–84

- 163. Sunde RA, Evenson JK, Thompson KM, Sachdev SW. 2005. Dietary selenium requirements based on glutathione peroxidase-1 activity and mRNA levels and other Se-dependent parameters are not increased by pregnancy and lactation in rats. *J. Nutr.* 135:2144–50
- 164. Sunde RA, Hadley KB. 2010. Phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase (Gpx4) is highly regulated in male turkey poults and can be used to determine dietary selenium requirements. *Exp. Biol. Med.* 235:23–31
- 165. Sunde RA, Li JL, Taylor RM. 2016. Insights for setting of nutrient requirements, gleaned by comparison of selenium status biomarkers in turkeys and chickens versus rats, mice, and lambs. *Adv. Nutr.* 7:1129– 38
- Sunde RA, Sunde GR, Sunde CM, Sunde ML, Evenson JK. 2015. Cloning, sequencing, and expression of selenoprotein transcripts in the turkey (*Meleagris gallopavo*). PLOS ONE 10:e0129801
- Sunde RA, Thompson KM. 2009. Dietary selenium requirements based on tissue selenium concentration and glutathione peroxidase activities in old female rats. *J. Trace Elem. Med. Biol.* 23:132–37
- Sunde RA, Thompson KM, Fritsche KL, Evenson JK. 2017. Minimum selenium requirements increase when repleting second-generation selenium-deficient rats but are not further altered by vitamin E deficiency. *Biol. Trace Elem. Res.* 177:139–47
- Surai PF, Fisinin VI, Karadas F. 2016. Antioxidant systems in chick embryo development. Part 1. Vitamin E, carotenoids and selenium. *Anim. Nutr.* 2:1–11
- 170. Suttle NF, Underwood EJ. 2010. Mineral Nutrition of Livestock. Oxfordshire, UK: CAB International
- Swanson TJ, Hammer CJ, Luther JS, Carlson DB, Taylor JB, et al. 2008. Effects of gestational plane of nutrition and selenium supplementation on mammary development and colostrum quality in pregnant ewe lambs. *J. Anim. Sci.* 86:2415–23
- Takahashi K, Suzuki N, Ogra Y. 2018. Effect of administration route and dose on metabolism of nine bioselenocompounds. J. Trace Elem. Med. Biol. 49:113–18
- 173. Tang C, Li S, Zhang K, Li J, Han Y, et al. 2020. Selenium deficiency-induced redox imbalance leads to metabolic reprogramming and inflammation in the liver. *Redox. Biol.* 36:101519
- 174. Taylor JB, Caton JS, Larsen R. 2014. Selenium biofortification in North America: using naturally selenium-rich feeds for livestock. In *Selenium in the Environment and Human Health*, pp. 155–56. London: CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group
- Taylor JB, Marchello MJ, Finley JW, Lawler TL, Combs GF, Caton JS. 2008. Nutritive value and display-life attributes of selenium-enriched beef-muscle foods. *J. Food Comp. Anal.* 21:183–86
- 176. Taylor PR, Li B, Dawsey SM, Li JY, Yang CS, et al. 1994. Prevention of esophageal cancer: the nutrition intervention trials in Linxian, China. Linxian Nutrition Intervention Trials Study Group. *Cancer Res.* 54:2029S–31S
- 177. Taylor RM, Bourget VG, Sunde RA. 2019. High dietary inorganic selenium has minimal effects on turkeys and selenium status biomarkers. *Poult. Sci.* 98:855–65
- Taylor RM, Mendoza KM, Abrahante JE, Reed KM, Sunde RA. 2020. The hepatic transcriptome of the turkey poult (*Meleagris gallopavo*) is minimally altered by high inorganic dietary selenium. *PLOS ONE* 15:e0232160
- Taylor RM, Sunde RA. 2016. Selenoprotein transcript level and enzyme activity as biomarkers for selenium status and selenium requirements in the turkey (*Meleagris gallopavo*). PLOS ONE 11:e0151665
- Terry N, Zayed AM, de Souza MP, Tarun AS. 2000. Selenium in higher plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 51:401–32
- 181. Thompson JN, Scott ML. 1969. Role of selenium in the nutrition of the chick. J. Nutr. 97:335-42
- Tobe R, Mihara H. 2018. Delivery of selenium to selenophosphate synthetase for selenoprotein biosynthesis. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Gen. Subj.* 1862:2433–40
- Turner JC, Osborn PJ, McVeagh SM. 1990. Studies on selenate and selenite absorption by sheep ileum using an everted sac method and an isolated, vascularly perfused system. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A Comp. Physiol.* 95:297–301
- US Food Drug Admin. 2013. Code of Federal Regulations Title 21, Part 1271: Human cells, tissues, and cellular and tissue-based products. Washington, DC: US Food Drug Admin.

- 185. Vadhanavikit S, Ganther HE. 1993. Selenium requirements of rats for normal hepatic and thyroidal 5'-deiodinase (type I) activities. J. Nutr. 123:1124–28
- Valle G, McDowell LR, Wilkinson NS, Wright D. 1993. Selenium concentration of bermudagrass after spraying with sodium selenate. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* 24:1763–68
- Van Dael P, Davidsson L, Ziegler EE, Fay LB, Barclay D. 2002. Comparison of selenite and selenate apparent absorption and retention in infants using stable isotope methodology. *Pediatr. Res.* 51:71– 75
- Van Mantgem PJ, Wu L, Banuelos GS. 1996. Bioextraction of selenium by forage and selected field legume species in selenium-laden soils under minimal field management conditions. *Ecotoxicol. Environ.* Saf. 34:228–38
- Vinceti M, Filippini T, Del Giovane C, Dennert G, Zwahlen M, et al. 2018. Selenium for preventing cancer. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 1:Cd005195
- Vinceti M, Filippini T, Wise LA, Rothman KJ. 2021. A systematic review and dose-response metaanalysis of exposure to environmental selenium and the risk of type 2 diabetes in nonexperimental studies. *Environ. Res.* 197:111210
- 191. Vonnahme KA, Wienhold CM, Borowicz PP, Neville TL, Redmer DA, et al. 2011. Supranutritional selenium increases mammary gland vascularity in postpartum ewe lambs. *J. Dairy Sci.* 94:2850–58
- 192. Wang S, Lv Y, Wang Y, Du P, Tan W, et al. 2018. Network analysis of Se-and Zn-related proteins in the serum proteomics expression profile of the endemic dilated cardiomyopathy Keshan disease. *Biol. Trace Elem. Res.* 183:40–48
- 193. Wang XD, Vatamaniuk MZ, Wang SK, Roneker CA, Simmons RA, Lei XG. 2008. Molecular mechanisms for hyperinsulinaemia induced by overproduction of selenium-dependent glutathione peroxidase-1 in mice. *Diabetologia* 51:1515–24
- Wang Y, Rijntjes E, Wu Q, Lv H, Gao C, et al. 2020. Selenium deficiency is linearly associated with hypoglycemia in healthy adults. *Redox. Biol.* 37:101709
- 195. Waschulewski IH, Sunde RA. 1988. Effect of dietary methionine on utilization of tissue selenium from dietary selenomethionine for glutathione peroxidase in the rat. J. Nutr. 118:367–74
- Wastney ME, Combs GF Jr., Canfield WK, Taylor PR, Patterson KY, et al. 2011. A human model of selenium that integrates metabolism from selenite and selenomethionine. *J. Nutr.* 141:708–17
- 197. Wedekind KJ, Howard KA, Backus RC, Yu S, Morris JG, Rogers QR. 2003. Determination of the selenium requirement in kittens. *J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr.* 87:315–23
- Wedekind KJ, Yu S, Combs GF. 2004. The selenium requirement of the puppy. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. 88:340–47
- Weiss SL, Evenson JK, Thompson KM, Sunde RA. 1996. The selenium requirement for glutathione peroxidase mRNA level is half of the selenium requirement for glutathione peroxidase activity in female rats. *J. Nutr.* 126:2260–67
- 200. Weiss WP. 2005. Selenium sources for dairy cattle. In *Tri-State Dairy Nutrition Conference*, Vol. 5, pp. 61–71. Columbus, Ohio: Ohio State University
- Wen HY, Davis RL, Shi B, Chen JJ, Chen L, et al. 1997. Bioavailability of selenium from veal, chicken, beef, pork, lamb, flounder, tuna, selenomethionine, and sodium selenite assessed in selenium-deficient rats. *Biol. Trace Elem. Res.* 58:43–53
- Whanger PD, Butler JA. 1988. Effects of various dietary levels of selenium as selenite or selenomethionine on tissue selenium levels and glutathione peroxidase activity in rats. *J. Nutr.* 118:846–52
- 203. White PJ. 2018. Selenium metabolism in plants. Biochim. Biophys. Acta Gen. Subj. 1862:2333-42
- 204. World Health Organ. 1996. Trace elements in human nutrition and health. Rep., World Health Organization, Geneva
- Wu L, Guo X, Banuelos GS. 1997. Accumulation of seleno-amino acids in legume and grass plant species grown in selenium-laden soils. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 16:491–97
- Xia Y, Hill KE, Byrne DW, Xu J, Burk RF. 2005. Effectiveness of selenium supplements in a low-selenium area of China. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 81:829–34
- 207. Xia Y, Hill KE, Li P, Xu J, Zhou D, et al. 2010. Optimization of selenoprotein P and other plasma selenium biomarkers for the assessment of the selenium nutritional requirement: a placebo-controlled,

double-blind study of selenomethionine supplementation in selenium-deficient Chinese subjects. Am. 7. Clin. Nutr: 92:525–31

- Xu J, Wang L, Tang J, Jia G, Liu G, et al. 2017. Pancreatic atrophy caused by dietary selenium deficiency induces hypoinsulinemic hyperglycemia via global down-regulation of selenoprotein encoding genes in broilers. *PLOS ONE* 12:e0182079
- 209. Yamashita M, Yamashita Y, Suzuki T, Kani Y, Mizusawa N, et al. 2013. Selenoneine, a novel seleniumcontaining compound, mediates detoxification mechanisms against methylmercury accumulation and toxicity in zebrafish embryo. *Mar. Biotechnol.* 15:559–70
- Yamashita Y, Yamashita M. 2010. Identification of a novel selenium-containing compound, selenoneine, as the predominant chemical form of organic selenium in the blood of bluefin tuna. J. Biol. Chem. 285:18134–38
- Yan L, Robinson R, Shi Z, Mann G. 2016. Efficacy of progesterone supplementation during early pregnancy in cows: a meta-analysis. *Theriogenology* 85:1390–98.e1
- Yang GQ, Wang SZ, Zhou RH, Sun SZ. 1983. Endemic selenium intoxication of humans in China. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 37:872–81
- 213. Yang GQ, Zhu LZ, Liu SJ, Gu LZ, Qian PC, et al. 1987. Human selenium requirements in China. In Selenium in Biology and Medicine, ed. GF Combs Jr., OA Levander, JE Spalholz, JE Odfield, pp. 589–607. New York: AVI
- Yang X, Chen W, Feng Y. 2007. Improving human micronutrient nutrition through biofortification in the soil–plant system: China as a case study. *Environ. Geochem. Health* 29:413–28
- 215. Yang X, Li Z, Zhang R, Zhang D, Xiong Y, et al. 2021. Dysregulation of transcription profile of selenoprotein in patients with Kashin-Beck disease and its effect on Se deficiency-induced chondrocyte apoptosis. *Biol. Trace Elem. Res.* 200:1508–17
- Yao HD, Wu Q, Zhang ZW, Zhang JL, Li S, et al. 2013. Gene expression of endoplasmic reticulum resident selenoproteins correlates with apoptosis in various muscles of Se-deficient chicks. J. Nutr. 143:613–19
- Young PA, Kaiser II. 1975. Aminoacylation of *Escherichia coli* cysteine tRNA by selenocysteine. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 171:483–89
- Yu SY, Zhu YJ, Li WG, Huang QS, Huang CZ, et al. 1991. A preliminary report on the intervention trials of primary liver cancer in high-risk populations with nutritional supplementation of selenium in China. *Biol. Trace Elem. Res.* 29:289–94
- Zeng MS, Li X, Liu Y, Zhao H, Zhou JC, et al. 2012. A high-selenium diet induces insulin resistance in gestating rats and their offspring. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 52:1335–42
- Zhan X, Qie Y, Wang M, Li X, Zhao R. 2011. Selenomethionine: an effective selenium source for sow to improve Se distribution, antioxidant status, and growth performance of pig offspring. *Biol. Trace Elem. Res.* 142:481–91
- 221. Zhang K, Zhao Q, Zhan T, Han Y, Tang C, Zhang J. 2019. Effect of different selenium sources on growth performance, tissue selenium content, meat quality, and selenoprotein gene expression in finishing pigs. *Biol. Trace Elem. Res.* 196:463–71
- 222. Zhang Y, Yu D, Zhang J, Bao J, Tang C, Zhang Z. 2020. The role of necroptosis and apoptosis through the oxidative stress pathway in the liver of selenium-deficient swine. *Metallomics* 12:607–16
- Zhao H, Li K, Tang JY, Zhou JC, Wang KN, et al. 2015. Expression of selenoprotein genes is affected by obesity of pigs fed a high-fat diet. *J. Nutr.* 145:1394–401
- 224. Zhao H, Zhao Z, Lei XG. 2021. Function and regulation of porcine selenogenome and selenoproteome. In *Selenium in Pig Nutrition and Health*, ed. PF Surai, pp. 39–59. Wageningen, Netherlands: Wageningen Academic Publishers
- 225. Zhao L, Sun LH, Huang JQ, Briens M, Qi DS, et al. 2017. A novel organic selenium compound exerts unique regulation of selenium speciation, selenogenome, and selenoproteins in broiler chicks. J. Nutr. 147:789–97
- Zhao X, Liang K, Zhu H, Wang J. 2021. Health risk assessment of heavy metals contamination in selenium-enriched eggs. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. Int.* 28:27047–55
- Zhao Z, Barcus M, Kim J, Lum KL, Mills C, Lei XG. 2016. High dietary selenium intake alters lipid metabolism and protein synthesis in liver and muscle of pigs. *J. Nutr.* 146:1625–33

- 228. Zhao Z, Kim J, Lei XG. 2020. High dietary fat and selenium concentrations exert tissue- and glutathione peroxidase 1-dependent impacts on lipid metabolism of young-adult mice. *7. Nutr.* 150:1738–48
- Zhou J, Huang K, Lei XG. 2013. Selenium and diabetes—evidence from animal studies. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 65:1548–56
- Zhou JC, Zhao H, Li JG, Xia XJ, Wang KN, et al. 2009. Selenoprotein gene expression in thyroid and pituitary of young pigs is not affected by dietary selenium deficiency or excess. *7. Nutr.* 139:1061–66
- 231. Zhu J, Wang N, Li S, Li L, Su H, Liu C. 2008. Distribution and transport of selenium in Yutangba, China: impact of human activities. *Sci. Total Environ.* 392:252–61
- Zou K, Liu G, Wu T, Du L. 2009. Selenium for preventing Kashin-Beck osteoarthropathy in children: a meta-analysis. Osteoarthr: Cartil. 17:144–51

![](_page_39_Picture_0.jpeg)

v

Annual Review of Nutrition

Volume 42, 2022

### Contents

A Female Career in Research Katherine M. Flegal
Glucose-Dependent Insulinotropic Polypeptide—A Postprandial Hormone with Unharnessed Metabolic Potential <i>Nunzio Guccio, Fiona M. Gribble, and Frank Reimann</i>
Dietary Fructose and Fructose-Induced Pathologies Sunhee Jung, Hosung Bae, Won-Suk Song, and Cholsoon Jang
Obesity Dysregulates the Immune Response to Influenza Infection and Vaccination Through Metabolic and Inflammatory Mechanisms <i>Saame Raza Shaikh, Nancie J. MacIver, and Melinda A. Beck</i>
Reprogramming of Hepatic Metabolism and Microenvironment in Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis <i>Liangyou Rui and Jiandie D. Lin</i>
The Lard Works in Mysterious Ways: Ceramides in Nutrition-Linked Chronic Disease Rebekah J. Nicholson, Marie K. Norris, Annelise M. Poss, William L. Holland, and Scott A. Summers
The Oscillating Gut Microbiome and Its Effects on Host Circadian Biology Lev Litichevskiy and Christoph A. Thaiss
Babies, Bugs, and Barriers: Dietary Modulation of Intestinal Barrier Function in Early Life Jerry M. Wells, Yifan Gao, Nanda de Groot, Marlotte M. Vonk, Laurien Ulfman, and R.J. Joost van Neerven
The Origins, Evolution, and Future of Dietary Methionine Restriction Han Fang, Kirsten P. Stone, Desiree Wanders, Laura A. Forney, and Thomas W. Gettys

Sex as a Biological Variable in Nutrition Research: From Human Studies to Animal Models <i>Yilin Chen, Minhoo Kim, Sanjana Paye, and Bérénice A. Benayoun</i>
Long Noncoding RNAs That Function in Nutrition: Lnc-ing Nutritional Cues to Metabolic Pathways <i>Claudia D. Lovell and Montserrat C. Anguera</i>
Nutritional and Metabolic Control of Ferroptosis Eikan Mishima and Marcus Conrad
Molecular Mechanisms of Iron and Heme Metabolism Sohini Dutt, Iqbal Hamza, and Thomas Benedict Bartnikas
Dietary Selenium Across Species Xin Gen Lei, Gerald F. Combs Jr., Roger A. Sunde, Joel S. Caton, John D. Arthington, and Marko Z. Vatamaniuk
The Importance of Food Processing and Eating Behavior in Promoting Healthy and Sustainable Diets <i>Ciarán G. Forde and Eric A. Decker</i>
National Food Intake Assessment: Technologies to Advance Traditional Methods <i>Alanna J. Moshfegh, Donna G. Rhodes, and Carrie L. Martin</i>
<ul> <li>Folic Acid and the Prevention of Birth Defects: 30 Years</li> <li>of Opportunity and Controversies</li> <li>Krista S. Crider, Yan Ping Qi, Lorraine F. Yeung, Cara T. Mai,</li> <li>Lauren Head Zauche, Arick Wang, Kelicia Daniels, and Jennifer L. Williams 423</li> </ul>
Advancing Health Equity Efforts to Reduce Obesity: Changing the Course <i>Shiriki K. Kumanyika</i>

#### Errata

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Nutrition* articles may be found at http://www.annualreviews.org/errata/nutr